

## LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Do-not-resuscitate orders Ethical aspects on decision making and communication among physicians, nurses, patients and relatives

Löfmark, Rurik

2001

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Löfmark, R. (2001). Do-not-resuscitate orders Ethical aspects on decision making and communication among physicians, nurses, patients and relatives. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Medical Ethics]. Department of Medical Ethics, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Do-not-resuscitate orders

Ethical aspects on decision making and communication among physicians, nurses, patients and relatives

BY RURIK LÖFMARK

#### .ABSTRACT

Löfmark Rurik. Do-not-resuscitate orders. Ethical aspects on decision making and communication among physicians, nurses, patients and relatives.

ISBN 91-628-4528-4

The purpose was to describe ethical aspects on how do-not-resuscitate (DNR) decisions are made, established, and communicated between physicians, nurses, patients and relatives.

A random sample of 220 physicians and nurses answered a questionnaire about their attitudes to and experiences of the making and communication of a DNR decision. The response rate was 73%. Twenty seriously ill patients, and 21 relatives of patients who died with a DNR order, were interviewed. The literature on medical futility was searched for conditions for futility and moral consequences.

The results showed that many physicians and nurses are uncertain about the rules and ethics of DNR orders. There are discrepancies between guidelines and attitudes regarding DNR orders, as well as between attitudes and behaviour. Seriously ill patients estimate open and straightforward conversations about treatments in the end of life. Relatives seem to get acceptable information and counselling. Conditions and consequences of medical futility may be approached in a new clinical way. There are numerous possible ethical conflicts within and between the principles of autonomy, non-maleficence, beneficence, and the virtues and ideals of the profession.

Start a dialogue about end-of-life support with chronically ill and elderly patients, and their relatives, while they still are capable of understanding and authorisation. The clinical conversation model may make it easier. All involved should understand why certain decisions are made. Conditions and consequences of futility should be ascertained together with the patients, the relatives and the staff, after which a joint decision can be reached.

**Key words:** DNR orders, futility, decision making, communication, physicians, nurses, patients, relatives, ethics

Rurik Löfmark, Department of Medical Ethics, Faculty of medicine, Lund University, SE–222 22 Lund, Sweden. E-mail: rurik.lofmark@lg.se

©Rurik Löfmark 2001 Printed in Sweden by Universitetstryckeriet, Lund 2000

## **ORIGINAL PAPERS**

The dissertation is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their roman numerals:

- I Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Do-Not-Resuscitate orders should the patients be informed? J Intern Med 1997; 241: 421-5
- II Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Deciding not to resuscitate. Responsibilities of physicians and nurses – a proposal. Scand J Caring Sci 1997; 11: 207-11
- III Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Informing patients and relatives about Do-Not-Resuscitate decisions. J Intern Med 1998; 243: 191-5
- IV Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Not if, but how: one way to talk with patients about forgoing life support. Postgrad Med J 2000; 76: 26-28
- V Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Experiences and attitudes of relatives: expectations of care are firm and diverse, but do-not-resuscitate orders are almost invisible. Submitted for publication.
- VI Löfmark R, Nilstun T. Conditions and consequences of medical futility a proposal for a new clinical approach. Submitted for publication.

Reprints were made with kind permission from the publishers.

## CONTENTS

|   | Page |
|---|------|
| ABSTRACT  | 2    |
| ORIGINAL PAPERS   | 3    |
| PREFACE   | 5    |
| BACKGROUND  | 6    |
| Experiences of DNR decision making and communication          | 6    |
| Ethical considerations  | 10   |
| Guidelines  | 11   |
| Futility as a reason for the DNR order                        | 13   |
| Lack of knowledge about DNR decision making and communication | 14   |
| AIMS  | 15   |
| MATERIAL AND METHODS  | 16   |
| RESULTS   | 20   |
| Decision making   | 20   |
| Communication   | 21   |
| DISCUSSION  | 24   |
| Ethical framework   | 24   |
| Subjects  | 24   |
| Data collection   | 25   |
| Methods of analysis   | 26   |
| Results   | 27   |
| Decision making   | 27   |
| Communication   | 31   |
| Guidelines, attitudes and behaviour                           | 35   |
| IMPLICATIONS FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE                            | 38   |
| FUTURE RESEARCH   | 38   |
| SUMMARY IN SWEDISH  | 39   |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  | 42   |
| REFERENCES  | 43   |
| APPENDICES 1 – 5  |      |
| ERRATA  |      |
| PAPERS I – VI   |      |

## PREFACE

After its introduction in 1960, cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) became a treatment for more and more patients whose heart stopped to beat, but eventually the use of CPR for "all patients" was called in question. It became the attending physician's task to decide whether CPR should be attempted or not. "Do-not-resuscitate" (DNR) orders were introduced and decided without being documented, or even communicated to patients or relatives, as if the decision not to use CPR was something that should be concealed.

According to my personal experience, it was not always easy to make such a decision. In many situations the decision was requested offhand by the nurses, who otherwise were supposed to start the CPR. Some physicians regarded a DNR order equal to a death sentence, or to take away the last hope from the patient. Thus the patient was usually not informed about the DNR order.

That is why I decided to find out whether other physicians also thought this was a hard decision to make, and how they and other affected dealt with the situation. The subsequent period was filled with new perspectives from other physicians, nurses, patients and relatives, perspectives I had never thought about before. Many physicians and nurses were bothered with the decision making and the communication of this decision, but the final answer was not there. It then became a challenge to find a deeper understanding.

#### Abbreviations

| CCU    | Coronary Care Unit                              |
|--------|---|
| ICU    | Intensive Care Unit                             |
| CPR    | Cardiopulmonary resuscitation                   |
| DNR    | Do-not-resuscitate                              |
| APACHE | Acute Physiologic And Chronic Health Evaluation |
| PAM    | Pre-Arrest-Morbidity                            |
| PAR    | Prognosis-After-Resuscitation                   |

## BACKGROUND

The closed-chest cardiac massage (later called cardiopulmonary resuscitation, CPR) was introduced by Kouwenhoven *et al.* in 1960 [105], and this opened up for immediate resuscitative measures. Of their first 20 patients with cardiac arrest, three were defibrillated by a closed-chest defibrillator shock. All 20 patients were primarily resuscitated, and 14 were alive without central nervous system damage 10 months later. "All that is needed are two hands", the authors stated.

Initially, the method was used in the coronary care units and in the emergency departments, for patients without underlying chronic disease. Despite extensive training of physicians, nurses, paramedics and family members, this high success rate has never been reproduced for in-hospital patients. Today, survival until discharge is rather 0 - 20 per cent, depending on the cause of the cardiac arrest [12, 133, 159, 182, 203].

Instruments to predict the outcome after cardiac arrest treated with CPR have been developed: Acute Physiologic And Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE), Pre-Arrest-Morbidity (PAM), and Prognosis-After-Resuscitation (PAR) [44, 66, 102, 140]. The studies are small, retrospective and largely uncontrolled, which limit the usefulness, and the scores seem not to have been used very much. However, they all give the same message: the older and sicker the patient, the worse is the prognosis. This prognosis can be calculated using the PAM and PAR scores in relation to survival after a cardiac arrest, at least for groups of patients (Tables 1a and 1b).

#### Experiences of DNR decision making and communication

The decision not to resuscitate is unique in health care as it is the only treatment decision that has to be made beforehand, i.e. before the event has occurred. Without a DNR decision by the physician, all staff are required to start CPR in the case of a heart stop even if it is obvious that this is not the best choice. Therefore, the DNR decision must be communicated at least to the staff. Eventually, patient autonomy has been emphasised and the demands to be informed have increased.

#### Decision making

After its introduction, cardiopulmonary resuscitation soon became "obligatory" for all hospitalised patients suffering from cardiac arrest, at least from the point of view of public relations [125]. It became an "open secret" within the profession in the US that withholding life-sustaining therapy was practised [60]. Also in UK, a notice was debated, directing which patients – in the case of cardiac or respiratory arrest – should be resuscitated and which should be not; those over 65 years of age or those with certain diseases fell under the interdict [100]. This happened in the beginning of the organ transplantation era,

| <b>Table 1a.</b> The pre-arrest-morbidity (PAM) index and the prognosis-after-resuscitation |
|---|
| (PAR) score. The range of scores for the PAM index is 0-25, while for the PAR score it is   |
| -2 to 28. [From O'Keeffe and Ebell, 1994]   |

| Clinical characteristic               | PAM index | PAR score |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|
| Malignancy                            | 3         |           |
| Metastatic                            |           | 10        |
| Non-metastatic                        |           | 3         |
| Sepsis                                | 1         | 5         |
| Homebound lifestyle                   | 3         | 5         |
| Pneumonia                             | 3         | 3         |
| Creatinine >130 µmol/l                |           | 3         |
| Creatinine >220 µmol/l                | 3         |           |
| Age over 70 years                     |           | 2         |
| Acute myocardial infarction           | 1         | -2        |
| Hypotension (systolic 90 mmHg)        | 3         |           |
| Heart failure (NYHA class III or IV)1 |           |           |
| Angina pectoris                       | 1         |           |
| S3 gallop                             | 1         |           |
| Oliguria (<300 ml/day)                | 1         |           |
| Mechanical ventilation                | 1         |           |
| Recent cerebrovascular event 1        |           |           |
| Coma                                  | 1         |           |
| Cirrhosis                             | 1         |           |

**Table 1b.** Survival to discharge following in-hospital CPR at each level for the PAM index and the PAR score. [From O'Keeffe and Ebell, 1994]

| Score | Survivors/Total (%) |           |  |  |  |
|-------|---------------------|-----------|--|--|--|
|       | PAM index           | PAR score |  |  |  |
|       | 9/111 (8)           | 3/80 (4)  |  |  |  |
| 4-5   | 1/45 (2)            | 5/53 (9)  |  |  |  |
| >5    | 0/17 (0)            | 0/59 (0)  |  |  |  |
| >8    | 0/5 (0)             | 0/24 (0)  |  |  |  |

and the debate was often biased in that direction.

In 1974, the results of a questionnaire were published, showing that nearly half of the physicians in Iowa revealed that they frequently omitted life-prolonging procedures or medications in the care of these patients. The physicians believed that "terminal patients often realise that they are dying, though they rarely speak of it" [199].

In reports from USA, 6 to 22 per cent of the patients and 86 per cent of the relatives participated in the DNR decision [13, 111]. If the patients should become too sick to participate in decisions, 79 per cent wanted their relatives to make decisions, but 13 per cent preferred their physicians [111]. Of 322 outpatients, 97 per cent would opt for CPR in their current state of health. In the hypothetical circumstance of having senile dementia only 10 per cent would definitely want CPR, and 75 per cent preferred not to have CPR [158]. Among 371 geriatric, ambulatory patients 41 per cent opted for CPR before learning that the probability of survival until discharge is 10-17 per cent. Thereafter, only 22 per cent opted for CPR. The conclusion was that older patients have no problems to understand prognostic information. The more facts they get about the efficiency of CPR, the less they want it [134].

In UK, the traditional view has been that British patients are more likely than the American patients to trust their doctors to decide on their behalf [10]. One study has shown that patients are not distressed when discussing resuscitation [88]. This study indicated that most physicians (33 of 34) believe that patients do not want to discuss DNR orders. Another study showed that nearly half of 134 geriatric patients were unaware of the possibility of having CPR applied to themselves. The majority of them felt that selective application of CPR in the elderly was appropriate [75]. Later, British physicians have stated that it is important to find out what any individual patient would wish about participation in the DNR decisions [56, 69, 127]. However, some would not consider initiating a discussion about CPR with elderly patients where resuscitation would probably fail [181]. In another study, eight of the 13 patients with DNR orders wanted to undergo CPR, whereas 35 of the remaining 87, who would have been resuscitated in the event of an arrest, did not want CPR. In practice the patient is rarely consulted about CPR even if he or she is mentally competent [131].

Relatives are more likely to be consulted. However, one study has shown a lack of concordance about the patient's wish and the relative's idea of that wish (in 43 of 100 pairs) [131].

In Holland, one study has shown that DNR decisions are made in 6 per cent of all admissions to hospital, and that 61 per cent of all in-hospital deaths were preceded by a DNR decision. One third of the patients were able to participate in the decision, but of them, only a third were consulted or informed [205].

One study from the US has shown that only 24 per cent of the patients are mentally competent at the time the DNR order is made, compared to 79 per cent of the same patients on admission to the hospital [13].

The attitudes and experiences of nurses have also been studied. One study reported that about ten per cent of the initiatives to DNR decisions came from nurses [34]. In a Dutch study, 20 per cent of the nurses disagreed with the residents' DNR decisions for 68 of 148 patients [38]. In an American study, 50 per cent of the nurses (n=759) reported that they had acted against their conscience in providing care to the terminally ill. Seventy per cent of the house officers had the same experiences, mostly because of "overly burdensome" treatments. Twenty-five per cent of the nurses were satisfied with the patient involvement in treatment decisions, compared to 40 - 50 per cent of the physicians. Only 20 per cent of the nurses were satisfied with how patients' wishes were recorded in the medical journal [178].

#### Communication of DNR orders

Interviews with patients, family members, physicians and nurses about DNR decisions in USA have shown that 67 per cent of the patients wanted involvement in the discussions and 66 per cent did not think that discussing resuscitation was cruel and insensitive. However, 30 per cent of the physicians said they were uncomfortable discussing resuscitation with patients, compared to 9 per cent when discussing with family members [183]. Many patients want to discuss resuscitation [111, 183], but some do not [57]. Few, however, are involved in such a discussion, only 6 per cent of the patients according to one study [111]. In one study, 100 alert patients and their next of kin were interviewed, and almost all (88%) thought that doctors should discuss plans for CPR with them [131]. After the Patient Self-Determination Act in the US [141], more, but not all patients seem to be involved [109].

In Holland, only 14 per cent of the patients, (32% of the competent patients) had been involved in the discussion about their DNR order [205]. Another Dutch study showed that only 3 per cent of geriatric patients and 24 per cent of their families were involved [38].

A survey on DNR procedures in Swedish medical wards showed that advance DNR orders were used in almost all hospitals [7]. The most common procedure was an 'oral direction' by a superior physician to the nurse, who documented the order in the nurses' day-to-day work sheet. The DNR orders were signed by 28 per cent (80 of 286) of the physicians. A wide range of symbols and code words were used, and there was a considerable disagreement regarding the meaning of a DNR order. Such orders were often associated with withdrawal and withholding of life-sustaining treatments other than cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Seven per cent of the physicians stated that they always or often discussed the DNR order with the patients, and 33 per cent with the relatives. Eighteen per cent of the physicians commented that the question of withholding resuscitation treatment was discussed with the patient only on the initiative of the patient. There was considerable conflict with regard to DNR order procedures not only between internists in different hospitals, but also within individual hospitals. The more exact procedure for the DNR decision was not asked for, but some respondents spontaneously commented that the decision

of the senior internist was always made in consultation with the other ward staff, or only on the initiative of the ward staff.

Some authors have dealt with the views of the relatives before and after the death of the patient [88, 110, 127, 131, 215]. In one study, 461 relatives were asked about treatment and decision making during the patients' last month of life. Of them, 23 per cent could not recall any discussion about treatment decision, 44 per cent wanted better communication and 17 per cent wanted more time with the physician [79]. In another American study, 32 family members wanted advance planning, timely communication, clarification of the relatives' roles, facilitating family consensus and accommodating family's grief. "Behaviours that made families feel excluded, or increased their burden, included postponing discussions about treatment withdrawal, delaying withdrawal once scheduled, placing the full burden of decision making on one relative, withdrawing from the family, or defining death as a fail-ure" were not appreciated [195].

#### **Ethical considerations**

The hindrance of a dialogue does not seem to have come from the patients, but from the physicians, as expressed by Thomas Percival in 1803, and transmitted through the generations:

"To a patient, therefore, perhaps the father of a numerous family, or one whose life is of the highest importance to the community, who makes inquiries which, if faithfully answered, might prove fatal to him, it would be a gross and unfeeling wrong to reveal the truth. His right to it is suspended, and even annihilated; because, its beneficial nature being reversed, it would be deeply injurious to himself, to his family, and to the public. And he has the strongest claim, from the trust reposed in his physician, as well as from the common principles of humanity, to be guarded against whatever would be detrimental to him. The only point at issue is, whether the practitioner shall sacrifice that delicate sense of veracity, which is so ornamental to, and indeed forms a characteristic excellence of the virtuous man, to his claim of professional justice and social duty " [148].

According to Percival, the patient's best interest was the true goal of medicine. He stated that the authority of the professionals should guide the comprehension of the good attributes of medicine, and they are without exception bound to the medical responsibility. Since then, the autonomy of the patient has been strengthened, and paternalism diminished, at least in the guidelines.

One reason often used by physicians to avoid talking with patients about limiting life support, especially DNR orders, is that it will harm the patient [164, 196]. Other explanations may be that physicians feel uncomfortable [183], or that they simply do not know how to talk about such issues. The latter is in line with a proposal that "ideally, experienced clinicians should undertake such discussions to determine how much the patient wishes to get involved" [180]. However, many patients want to be informed and of 270 patients asked verbally if they found the questions disturbing, none said they did [158].

There are reports of physicians who state that the patients should be involved in the decision making and communication, but for some reasons this does not occur [34]. In these cases there is a discrepancy between guidelines and opinions, and/or between opinions and action. These acts of omission or negligence have not been studied in detail.

Earlier many physicians had a strong paternalistic approach to their patients. Most decisions were regarded as purely medical and made without informing or asking the patient. This was also generally accepted by most patients, and information about for instance prognosis was given only if the patient asked for it. Eventually, it was realised that many of the issues faced by physicians were not purely medical, but included different sets of values, not only the physicians' but also the values of the patients. The *autonomy* of the patient was emphasised, and the right to be informed strengthened. The awareness of medical ethics in clinical practice increased and old ethical principles were reformulated to suit the modern society. Besides autonomy, the principles of *non-maleficence* (avoid harm), *beneficence* (do good), and *justice* (do not discriminate and sometimes also the duty of solidarity) ought to be considered. Also *professional virtues*, e.g. respectfulness, truthfulness, faithfulness, responsibility, advocacy, persistence, courage, compassion, discernment, trustworthiness, integrity and conscientiousness, have been called to attention [11].

#### Possible ethical conflicts

At times, two or more of these principles cannot be fully respected and an ethical conflict is at hand. There may also be conflicts within the same principle, for instance when a DNR decision is made. Such a decision raises the question of who is authorised to make it, and a conflict within the principle of autonomy, more precisely between the patient's and the physician's autonomy, is evident. Other ethical principles and virtues are also relevant to DNR orders and may also conflict with each other, for example autonomy and non-maleficence, autonomy and beneficence, or truthfulness and non-maleficence.

#### Guidelines

In 1981, a woman died in New York as she was not offered CPR. A covert system of purple dots affixed to her chart was discovered, which started the first legislation on DNR [218]. This law [6] stated that every patient who had not consented to the issuance of a DNR order was presumed to consent to CPR. The patient's consent to a DNR order must be obtained by the attending physician in the presence of two witnesses. If the patient lacked decision making capacity, the attending physician and a concurring physician must certify in writing their opinions of the cause and probable duration of the patient's incapacity. The surrogate could consent to a DNR order only after a written certification by the two physicians that the patient has a terminal condition (that is expected to result in death within one year), that the patient is irreversibly comatose, or that resuscitation would be medically futile, or would impose an extraordinary burden in the light of the expected outcome. In the case of acute care hospitalisation, the DNR order must be reviewed every

three days.

Most countries have no legislation about DNR orders, but several have issued national guidelines, and there are also many guidelines at hospital level.

Over the world, guidelines have been up-dated continuously. A National Conference on Standards for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiac Care in the US had in 1974 made the following statement: "The purpose of cardiopulmonary resuscitation is the prevention of sudden and unexpected death. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation is not indicated in certain situations, such as in cases of terminal, irreversible illness where death is not unexpected" [136].

The first hospital policies on DNR orders appeared in 1976. One stated that these decisions were to be made by the responsible physician, whose only consultative duty was to answer questions about management raised by the patient and family. Active consultation with the family, but not the patient, was required only for acts of commission [142]. By contrast, another policy allowed a refusal of CPR initiated by the patient, regardless of the medical situation [153].

In the US, consent to administer CPR on hospitalised patients who suffer cardiac or respiratory arrest is presumed. However, two exceptions have been recognised. First, a patient may express in advance his or her wish that CPR be withheld. Second, CPR may be withheld if, in the judgement of the treating physician, an attempt to resuscitate the patient would be futile. Guidelines suggest that physicians should discuss the possibility of cardiopulmonary arrest with the patient or a surrogate if the patient is incapable of rendering a decision. DNR orders should not influence other therapeutic interventions that may be appropriate for the patient [34].

In UK, guidelines on CPR state that hospitals need to have policies of when to start resuscitation. There are three occasions when they consider non-resuscitation to be acceptable. First, when competent patients refuse resuscitation after having been told about the probable consequences by means of an "advance directive". Second, a DNR-order is also acceptable when a patient is not competent to give consent and a clinician judges CPR to be against the patient's best interests, e.g. some neonates and patients with persistent vegetative states. The third acceptable situation is when CPR is said to be futile as it will not benefit the patient [42, 209].

In relation to the four *prima facie* moral principles of *autonomy, non-maleficence, beneficence and justice*, world-wide guidelines discussed decisions to forgo treatment [193]. The target groups were a) patients who have decision-making capacity, b) patients who have executed an advance directive before losing this capacity, c) patients who have not, and cannot execute an advance directive, and d) patients who have never achieved decisionmaking capacity. Furthermore, decisions to forgo life-sustaining treatment under conditions of scarcity are discussed.

After some controversial cases of end-of-life care got publicity in Sweden, the Swedish Social Board of Health and Welfare formulated guidelines on life support in the end of life [65]. They point out that the patient should decide, if possible, about forgoing treatment. The physician has a duty to "make the right diagnosis, a true prognosis and to communicate with the patient, the family and the staff about these issues" (sic!). The physician has to make the crucial decision and document the procedure of decision making.

Some guidelines have recommended that all patients should not be informed of their DNR status because of the distress to the patient. Any information must be given incrementally, and be guided by the patient's reaction to earlier information. The physicians have a duty to determine whether the patient wishes to enter into this discussion. Various strategies are available, of which the most common is to invite the patients to ask questions. Other approaches are to ask patients what sorts of interventions they are prepared to permit the doctor to undertake, or to ask patients well in advance. It is important to find out what any individual patient would wish [69, 140, 144, 164].

Most of the patients who die in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) do so during the withholding or withdrawal of life support, and most of them are considered incapable of making medical decisions due to disease, medications and other factors [116]. This paper proposed that regular meetings should be held with experienced clinicians and the families from the time of ICU admission to discuss all medical matters including prognosis. Consensus should be reached by the clinicians regarding prognosis and other medical matters before they communicate with the family. Family members should be informed that they can help the patient best by articulating his or her wishes, instead of expressing their own wishes and what they themselves would want to be done. Discussions should be frank, informative and as consistent as possible. Withholding or withdrawal of life support should be recommended once clinicians agree that life support should be withheld or withdrawn, but CPR should not be the focus of discussions. Clinicians should inform the family that they are not obliged to provide unbeneficial care if the issue arises. Families should be told that life support will be withheld or withdrawn as humanely and expeditiously as possible. Clinicians should be as available to the family after the patient is diseased as they were previously [116].

Guidelines, specific for DNR orders have also been proposed in Sweden, suggesting that all patients should get an information letter at admission to the hospital saying that they are presumed to accept CPR unless they say no. All elderly patients, e.g. over 75 years, and patients with chronic, severe diseases should be involved in discussions at admission [58].

#### Futility as a reason for the DNR order

The concept of futility is frequently invoked by doctors as providing ethical justification for the unilateral withholding or withdrawing of treatment of marginal effect, for instance CPR. During the 1990's there was an intensive debate about both the meaning and the usefulness of the term "medical futility". Several books and hundreds of articles on "medical futility" have been published. Different perspectives and conclusions, theoretical as well as empirical, have been put forward. Helft *et al.* [87] have called these discussions "The rise and fall of the futility movement" and grouped them into four main categories: definitions of medical futility, empirical data about futility, patients' autonomy versus physicians' autonomy, and attempts to resolve disputes over futility. In their opinion the term "futile" is very useful to describe how the physician feels about the patient's care, but talking to patients and their families "should remain the focus" of the process for discussing futility.

#### Lack of knowledge about DNR decision making and communication

At the time for the planning of the present studies in early 1995 there was already a fair knowledge about the attitudes to and experiences of DNR orders. Some national guidelines were issued and a shift in the views on autonomy was noticed. However, in Sweden only one survey had been performed and the national guidelines were quite unspecified regarding the DNR orders. Almost nothing was known about the perspectives of the patients, nurses or relatives, and the procedure of DNR decision making was largely unknown.

## AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to focus on ethical aspects on decision making and communication in the process of refraining from cardiopulmonary resuscitation in a Swedish context.

The following subsidiary aims were formulated:

- to explore whether the current recommendations are accepted by the health care professionals (I)
- to analyse the ethical implications of informing patients about their DNR order (I)
- to discuss some possible ways to distribute or share the responsibility to participate in a DNR decision among physicians and nurses (II)
- to suggest how these ideas may be incorporated in future guidelines (II)
- to survey the attitudes of Swedish physicians and nurses regarding information about a DNR decision to patients and their relatives (III)
- to test whether or not the clinical conversation may be used to explore if seriously ill patients want to talk about possible limitations of life support (IV)
- to explore the relatives' experiences of the situation before, at and after the death of a patient with a DNR order, and their attitudes based on these experiences (V)
- to study factual conditions for medical futility, and moral consequences that are permissible, desirable or required when medical futility is at hand (VI)
- to propose a clinical method which may be useful in "futility situations" (VI)

## MATERIAL AND METHODS

This multitude of research questions and aims needs an approach with various methods. Thus, questionnaires, interviews and conceptual analysis were used to study the experiences and attitudes of the different study populations and of texts. To enable an ethical analysis, an ethical framework had to be established.

#### **Ethical framework**

The principles of autonomy, non-maleficence, beneficence and justice have been chosen. These describe the different sets of values and perspectives among those involved in decision making and communication of a DNR decision. The principle of *autonomy* requires respect for patients' deliberated choices to be made in accordance with their own values, consciences, and religious convictions. To effect such a respect, it is the responsibility of health care professionals to share information honestly and fully with patients, to enable them to collaborate fully in determining the course of their care, and to maintain patient confidentiality. The principle of *non-maleficence* declares that all persons have a moral obligation not to harm each other. Risks of medical practice can only be justified by the pursuit of other ethical values, i.e. benefits to patients sufficient to outweigh the harm. All persons have a prima facie moral obligation to benefit others, *beneficence*. Health care providers acknowledge a particular obligation to benefit their patients and to do so with minimal harm. Finally, the principle of *justice* states that all persons have an obligation to act justly or fairly to others [11].

However, in clinical practice these principles are not enough. Decisions have to be realised and communicated by the professionals, who consequently must have the ambition and ability to carry this out. In this context, the 'professional virtues' of ambition and ability are called *attitudes* and *behaviour* [52].

#### **Subjects**

In *studies I, II, III*, a comparison between physicians and nurses was projected, and it was desirable to find a group of respondents with experiences of the same kind of patients. The Swedish Cardiac Society is unique in this respect (in Sweden), that both physicians and nurses are members of the same society. A random sample of 10 per cent of all members, 104 cardiologists and 196 cardiology nurses was addressed. The response rate was 73 per cent.

In *study IV* the setting was a department of general internal medicine with 108 beds in a secondary hospital. Twenty-one consecutively admitted and seriously ill patients were asked to take part in the study. Three patients had a DNR order and the others fulfilled the criteria of serious illness, as indicated from the instrument called "Prognosis-After-Resuscitation" (PAR) [44]. A patient was regarded as seriously ill if he or she had six or

more PAR points. At this level, there is almost no chance of surviving a cardiac arrest, despite attempts of resuscitation (see Table 1, page 7).

*Study V* recruited relatives of patients who had died with a DNR order. A close relative of 59 of these "DNR-patients", not treated by the author, was asked to be interviewed, and 21 accepted. The 38 relatives who did not answer the invitation to be interviewed, were six months later approached with a short questionnaire, answered by 22 relatives, to investigate the reason or reasons why they did not participate (Appendix 5).

#### **Data collection**

Inspired by earlier surveys [7, 205], a questionnaire to elucidate the experiences and attitudes of physicians and nurses was developed (paper I and II). The purpose was to describe how these physicians and nurses regard their roles, their attitudes and duties towards patients and relatives, and their mutual relation in connection with DNR decisions. The questionnaire was tested in pilot studies with cardiologists and cardiology nurses not involved in the studies (Appendix 1). The respondents were asked to recall their latest patient with a DNR order, and with reference to this, answer questions about the involvement of patients, relatives, physicians and nurses, and if the respondents thought that the DNR decision was ethically right and well timed. It was also asked how the decision was documented and communicated, and what an ideal procedure would be like.

One year later a new set of questions regarding the attitudes to informing patients and relatives of a DNR order was sent to the same respondents, described in paper III. The analysis of the answers aimed at finding differences rather than similarities, to point at uncertainties in knowledge, attitudes and norms, and to identify issues in need of improvement. This questionnaire was inspired by Thomsen et al. [201] (Appendix 2).

In paper IV, an interview method close to clinical conversation was used in order to resemble clinical praxis. The patients received a written information with the following questions: "Do seriously ill patients want to talk about their future prospects? And if so, how?" (Appendix 3). All but one of the patients accepted to participate. The length of the interviews varied between 20 and 45 minutes. They were tape recorded and transcribed.

The relatives were invited by letter telling that "the aim of the study is to investigate how the information to, and the dialogue between, seriously ill patients, their relatives, physicians and nurses can be improved in the end of life" (paper V; Appendix 4). The interviews lasted between 40 and 85 minutes, they were tape recorded and transcribed. The 38 relatives who did not answer the invitation to be interviewed, were six months later approached with a short questionnaire to investigate why they did not participate (Appendix 5).

In *study VI*, the literature was searched with regard to the concept of 'medical futility'. An article was included if (1) the text was written in English, French, German or some Scandinavian language, (2) it was published between August 1980 and August 2000, and (3) the main theses put forward regarding conditions and/or consequences of medical futility expressed the opinion of the authors. Thus, 43 articles were identified.

The regional ethical review board in Uppsala has approved studies IV and V. In studies I - III, no ethical conflicts were anticipated and ethical approval was not applied for.

#### Methods of analysis

In studies I – III descriptive statistics was used. Discrepancies from expected findings and patterns of uncertainties were searched for, and possible reasons for the divergences were analysed, using the ethical framework described above.

In study IV, recurrent themes in the interviews were identified and organised into eight main categories with the use of content analysis [55]. The aim was to identify different reaction patterns among "typical DNR patients".

In study V, recurrent themes in the interviews and questionnaires were identified and organised into four main categories. For each of the categories, the text was searched for "meaning units", i.e. words or sentences indicating different themes [70, 119]. Finally, the text was examined in order to find factors that seemed to promote or impede good communication.

In study VI, the aim was to present a clinical alternative to formal definitions of futility. A combination of a method for conceptual analysis [210] and empirical statements on futility from the literature was used. The statements about futile measures were analysed using the scheme: "If certain conditions are satisfied, then a particular measure is futile," and "If a particular measure is futile, then certain moral consequences are implied".

Thus, the multitude of research questions and aims were approached in different study populations and texts, and analysed with various methods. The studies I - VI complement each other according to Table 2.

| Paper | Focus on |   |     |     | Methods used |   |   |    |
|-------|----------|---|-----|-----|--------------|---|---|----|
|       | Р        | N | Pat | Rel | ME           | Q | Ι | CA |
| I     | x        | x |     |     |              | X |   |    |
| II    | Х        | Х |     |     |              | Х |   |    |
| III   | Х        | Х |     |     |              | х |   |    |
| IV    | Х        | Х | Х   | Х   |              |   | Х |    |
| V     | Х        | Х |     | Х   |              |   | Х |    |
| VI    | Х        | х | Х   | Х   | Х            |   |   | х  |

Table 2. Overview of study populations and methods considered in the various papers.

(P = physicians, N = nurses, Pat = patients, Rel = relatives, ME = medical ethicists, Q = questionnaire, I = interview, CA = conceptual analysis).

Time table for the studies in this thesis

- 1995 Questionnaire I, II
- 1996 Questionnaire III
- 1998 Interviews with patients
- 1999 Interviews with relatives
- 2000 Conceptual analysis of "futility"

## RESULTS

The *experiences*, *attitudes* and *behaviour* of the study populations with regard to DNR orders were inquired for in two aspects, decision making and communication. The question of *timing*, i.e. the point of time when the DNR decision is made and communicated, good or bad, was also of interest.

#### **Decision making**

#### Experiences

The great majority (84%) of the physicians and 8 per cent of the nurses had made a DNR decision, and most of the respondents had participated in a discussion prior to a DNR decision. They were asked to recall their latest patient with a DNR order and 81 per cent could do so. At the time of the DNR decision 20 per cent of the patients were able to take part in the decision making, but only a third of these patients were included. However, almost all of the respondents (96%) stated that the decision was ethically right.

#### Attitudes

Half of the physicians and nurses (56%) thought that the patient should make the DNR decision themselves, or at least be included in the decision making (53%), but a substantial part (28-38%) were uncertain. Almost all (96%) were of the opinion that the physician should participate in the decision making, and most of the physicians (81%) and the nurses (92%) thought that the nurses should participate too. However, some physicians (13%) stated that the nurses should not be involved. There was a general agreement that physicians should make the DNR decision, but more than one third of the nurses answered that they could sometimes make such decisions, albeit not alone, and some of the physicians (16%) were of the same opinion. Half of the physicians and little more that half of the nurses thought that the patient should be consulted.

When deciding about the conditions for futility, certain facts and values must be ascertained. The type of measure and its effect in the individual situation have to be united with the goals, specified by the patient and/or the physician. Most of the authors of the 43 articles expressed more or less theoretical statements, but a few presented empirical data. Most authors also stated that they thought of physicians as decision makers, in three cases together with patients and in one case together with relatives. Six articles mentioned the health care team or guidelines. In two single cases the patient's or family's opinion were exclusive. In one article the authors stated that if no medical benefit was expected, the physician should decide, while the patient was to determine whether he or she would expect "an unacceptable quality of life". All but one article implied that some kind of treatment might be futile. Two articles mentioned diagnostic measures, and one article included caring measures. Also the possible goals have to be stated as conditions for futility, which 40 of 43 articles did, six of them physiological goals and 11 of them life prolonging goals. Most often "quality of life" was emphasised and in four articles patient's or surrogate's goals were mentioned. The probability of success in relation to the measure and the goal of the individual situation was to be stated in numerical terms, according to four articles, while 29 described different semi-quantitative probabilities. In ten articles there were no suggestions at all, and four gave more or less qualitative descriptions.

When deciding about the moral consequences of futility, 13 of 43 articles did not mention any options. One stated that it was not permissible at all to withhold or withdraw treatment, while three articles discussed differences related to "permissible, desired or required" to do so.

Regarding the final decision making, 19 articles recommended that the physician makes a unilateral decision to withhold or withdraw a futile measure. Four proposed the possibility of a second opinion or appeal if the patient or surrogate disagreed. Advance directives were recommended by three, of which one also recognised that they were not always followed. Over the years more and more articles recommended joint, "group process" or compassionate decision making, physicians and patients together.

Differences of attitudes between American and British physicians were also noticed. According to the authors, the former are more patient oriented, implying that the patient should decide, and the latter seem to be more paternalistic [128].

#### **Behaviour**

The precise procedure for the DNR decision was not asked for in the questionnaires. Three of the 20 interviewed patients had got a DNR order, although all of them were seriously ill, according to the prognostic index.

#### Timing

Most of the responders thought that the DNR order was well timed, or perhaps somewhat late. However, quite a few were uncertain. Of all 59 patients with a DNR order in study V, the point of time of the order was documented for 40. The mean was five days before death and the median two days before death.

#### Communication

#### Experiences

Almost all patients were positive about the opportunity to talk about their future prospects: "This was the best talk I ever had" (patient 4), "I think you should talk with all patients in this way" (patient 5). Two patients thought it was difficult and one patient avoided answering the questions. Most patients seemed to be relaxed when talking about their situation, but a few said that certain issues were difficult to discuss. The communication was influenced by the moving around of the patient who met new doctors and nurses, "First in the surgical ward, then the medical, and the geriatric, and back to medicine again. Different rooms in every ward. Each time she [the patient] appeared to be more confused" (I10). Some relatives got no or only little information, but other relatives were very pleased. Many relatives felt reasonably well informed about the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment by the doctors and nurses and quite a few had discussed forgoing of CPR or other forms of life support. Only one mentioned spontaneously that withholding of CPR was ordered, "Over the phone a nurse told us that they were not going to do anything. So we hurried to the hospital" (I12). One relative was ill at ease having to be a proxy, "My brother was very headstrong and had never listened to me, but when he went ill I had to make the decisions" (I09).

After 3 - 6 months many of the relatives had reflected upon unanswered questions and some wanted to get in touch with the hospital to have more information. Some relatives were also offered such a meeting. Some relatives met the doctor afterwards and this was much appreciated, "We had got some distance to it and could sort out some misunder-standings" (I06).

#### Attitudes

Half of the respondents stated that DNR orders should be discussed with the competent patient, while nine per cent thought that the patient should not be involved. About half of the physicians and nurses thought that the patients should be included into the discussion. However, about one-third of them were uncertain. Almost all thought that the physician should participate, and 80 to 90 per cent that the nurses also should be involved.

The intention of the physicians and nurses to communicate a DNR order was influenced by the patients' and relatives' interest to know. If they did not ask, about one third to half of them would not be informed.

Most of the interviewed patients wanted an open and straightforward discussion. Some patients expressed that it is the physician's responsibility to create an open and straitforward discussion. "It is the doctor's responsibility to tell" (patient 7), "You should not sneak about it" (patient 15), "You should not keep it secret" (patient 19).

A few patients believed talking might be too painful for others. Only one patient said it was not a good idea to talk about his prognosis. Some patients would accept a family member joining in the conversation. A few patients suggested that the physician should talk to the family alone. Others hesitated: "My wife, yes, but you mustn't worry her" (patient 5). A few were not interested: "No, I think that you should talk in private" (patient 10). The reasons for participation varied, but no patient said that it would be solely for his or her own good.

Most patients would accept a nurse to participate in the discussion. Some were less certain, and others were negative. Some patients considered that the district nurse or deaconess was the best one to participate. No one named any of the attending staff nurses.

Many relatives commented on situations and attitudes influencing the communication. Personal relation with the staff and accessibility of information were important. Some emphasised the reassurance, "All the time we felt that everything was done" (I10).

The communication of facts and values regarding the conditions and consequences of futility was also studied. In 27 articles (of 43) the authors recommended a dialogue with the patient and family before decision making, but quite a few (9 of 43) stated that no information was needed when a futile measure was to be withheld or withdrawn. Seven of the nine articles were published before 1994. Unidirectional information was recommended by four, and in one article the authors tried to make a distinction between "full information" and "dialogue" in relation to the goals (physiological goals versus goals expressed by the patient).

#### Behaviour

Of the nurses, 36 per cent stated that they had initiated the discussion within the health care team and another 45 per cent answered that some other nurse had taken the initiative. The physicians believed that they initiated most of the discussions. Usually, one nurse and more than one physician seem to have participated in the discussion.

The prognosis was discussed with all the 30 patients judged to be competent, and the DNR order with 10 of them, usually by the initiative of the patient.

One third of both the physicians and nurses believed that there are patients who want information about DNR, but do not receive it. A sixth of them thought that some patients get information that they do not want. Half of the respondents were uncertain.

Three of the 20 patients who were interviewed had a DNR order. None of them had talked with the physician about it, and none of the other 17 patients had heard of the possibility. Almost all patients were positive about the opportunity to talk about their future prospects, for instance: "This was the best talk I ever had" (patient 4), "I think you should talk with all patients this way" (patient 5).

Some relatives were very pleased when coming to the emergency department, "They stood there waiting for us" (I13). Some seemed to have high expectations, which often were fulfilled, "If you just told them, you got a pain killer at once" (I02).

Of the 21 patients who died with a DNR order, only two were informed about the DNR order, according to the case book.

#### Timing

One relative who had not been in the hospital was informed at the deathbed, not only about the cause of death, but also that an autopsy was planned (I01). One wanted to talk with a doctor or a chaplain, "But it was not an option in the middle of the night, so I became angry" (I15). Some relatives were informed over the phone, and some of them hur-

ried to the hospital only to be too late.

To confirm death in front of the relatives or to ask about autopsy at deathbed caused negative feelings, "When we took farewell a doctor came to certify the death - that was not good" (Q09). "We disliked that the physician within minutes after the death brought up the question of an autopsy" (Q10).

### DISCUSSION

The ethical framework will be discussed first. This will be followed by a discussion of the different persons involved in the DNR decision making and communication process. Their experiences and attitudes can hardly be investigated in one single study. That is why several different inquiries have to be made. Several methods have been used and the pros and cons are weighted. Finally, the results of the present studies regarding decision making and communication are scrutinised and compared with relevant data from other studies.

#### **Ethical framework**

Most of the articles about DNR orders have explicitly or implicitly touched upon ethical principles. Decision making and communication are both related to the ethical principle of autonomy. To enable the patient to make use of his or her autonomy, the physician should, if possible, communicate adequate information to the patient, who must be capable of understanding and authorisation. This communication may cause damage to the patient if made in a wrong way, and according to the principle of non-maleficence, harm is to be minimised. Both decision making and communication have also connections with the principles of beneficence and non-maleficence. The physician's autonomy is often related to beneficence, which encompasses fundamental goals of medicine: preservation of life, restoration of health, relief of suffering, restoration or maintenance of function. When a physician makes a decision without hearing the patient, the physician is acting paternalistic even though beneficence is invoked. Moreover, the ethical principle of justice may be overridden when, for instance, patients with different diseases but similar prognosis are treated unequally.

These four principles, though individually ancient, have been re-articulated in the bioethics literature by Beauchamp & Childress [11] and they are widely accepted over the medical world [193]. Besides these principles, there are moral philosophical theories that may be used for ethical analyses, for instance, utilitarianism (consequence-based theory) and Kantianism (obligation-based theory). Both try to deny much of what the other affirm, and none of them is sufficient to solve all the subtle variations of ethical problems in health care. There are also many ethical rules, such as veracity, confidentiality and fidelity, which are important in health care, but they are not enough for a comprehensive ethical frame-

work. Instead, they may correspond to several of the virtues invoked in health care ethics [11].

#### Subjects

A representative sample of the respondents is needed to be able to generalise the results. In this case both physician and nurse members of Swedish Cardiac Society were addressed as they were expected to meet the same kind of patients, but nevertheless have different perspectives. The Swedish Cardiac Society is the only professional federation in Sweden that includes both physicians and nurses. However, members of a professional federation are not identical with non-members, which may limit the representativity. Some physicians declined to answer the questionnaires as they had no responsibility for DNR decisions. Some were researchers or in other ways no longer clinically active. The main part of the nurse members worked in CCUs, and some were engaged in research.

The patients interviewed were, according to a prognostic instrument, "typical DNR patients", with very low probability to survive a heart stop. They were consecutive in-hospital patients from a department of medicine in a secondary hospital. After six months half of them were dead, which was anticipated from the prognostic instrument. A sample of this kind is not unique, and can probably be found in every department of medicine.

The relatives who were interviewed are hardly representative for all relatives of patients who have died with a DNR order. Only one third of all invited volunteered to be interviewed. Another third of the relatives answered a questionnaire and gave similar reports. However, they seemed to be better informed during the hospital care. They were also less often children of the patient, which may signal a difference of generations.

The authors of the articles on futility were composed of both experienced physicians and moral philosophers. In this study, the main objective was to find the variety of conditions and consequences of futility, and the representativity of the authors is less important.

#### **Data collection**

The methods most often used in empirical research of ethical issues are surveys, interviews and conceptual analysis, often in combination with empirical data. Sometimes also field research or historical-comparative research methods are used [137]. In the present studies (I-VI), surveys, interviews and conceptual analysis have been used in an attempt to illuminate a multitude of perspectives. The nature of the studies is mostly explorative.

The face validity of the questionnaires was increased by pilot studies carried out among cardiologists and cardiac nurses of two different hospitals. Many questions were derived from other surveys with similar ends [7, 205]. However, the content validity of some of the questions in the first questionnaire (Appendix 1) ought to have been better controlled. For instance the questions about the initiative to the DNR decision making, which gave rise to answers difficult to interpret.

The reliability of the questionnaires can be assessed by comparing the results with

other studies, performed in a similar way [7, 13, 88, 111, 131, 205].

The interviews with the patients were close to the clinical conversation in order not to deviate from clinical practice. This is an approach all physicians have learnt and one with which all patients are familiar with and expect. The structure of this method proved to be very successful and made most of the patients ready to talk about fundamental questions of life and death. It was also quite easy to get an idea of the patient's values and understanding of medical issues. Most of the patients did not think that the conversation was bothersome. On the contrary, it was met with approval.

The interviews with the relatives also resembled the clinical conversation. The aim was to collect as many different experiences and opinions as possible. Thus, an open hearted and free discussion was desirable. A survey to the relatives had probably not given such in-depth results. However, the "drop-out questionnaire" with one open-ended question also gave some information, although little additional.

In the data collection for the futility study, the relevant literature was used. Medline was searched, giving many hundred "hits" for "medical AND futility", and two books were incorporated in the material. Again, the purpose was not to identify frequencies, but to find as many different statements as possible to be able to create a useful clinical approach to the problem.

#### Methods of analysis

The purpose of these empirical investigations was not to generalise the frequencies of different answers. Instead, it was to identify issues for open and professional discussions about possible differences between the ideal situation and the reality. It was therefore desirable to find a multitude of experiences, opinions and problem areas. In this survey, "uncertain" is an answer of the same dignity as "yes" or "no", since special actions may be warranted, e.g. education.

Descriptive statistics have been used in paper I-III. As there was no intention to generalise frequencies, inference statistics and significance analysis are not relevant.

In the interview studies, IV and V, two slightly different methods of content analysis of the texts have been used. The texts were searched by both authors to find "meaning units", i.e. words or sentences indicating different themes. The texts were also examined in order to find factors that seemed to affect communication among patients and relatives, physicians and nurses.

Regarding the conditions and consequences of futility (paper VI), a conceptual analysis was performed, using a method first described by Wedberg [210], which includes a twostep scheme. From the collected data four kinds of conditions and three kinds of consequences were extracted. Usually there was no difficulty to understand the positions expressed by the authors, but in some cases the interpretations were uncertain. A few authors focused solely on conditions, others on consequences, although the two are always related

#### Results

#### Decision making

The following section, discussing decision making, will be structured with regard to the different agents and affected. Regarding futility, the decision making involves two different types of decision. First, who has the authority to decide about what conditions make a particular measure futile? Second, who is to decide the proper moral consequences, i. e. if it is permissible, desirable or required to withhold or withdraw the measure?

#### **Physicians**

The physician has the duty to make the final decision to use or forgo CPR in case of heart arrest. When forgoing CPR, the physician should, if possible, know the diagnosis and prognosis for certain and that efficient treatment is unavailable, according to Swedish recommendations. The patient, the staff and the family should be consulted. Good care must always be given and the autonomy of the patient respected [65]. These recommendations are much more patient-oriented than those of the 1970s [142, 153], and were in force in 1995-6 when studies I-III were performed.

Still, at the time for the studies, only one third of the competent patients were included in the DNR decision making in Swedish hospitals. Contrary to the recommendations, only half of the physicians thought that the patient should be consulted. Of interest is also that over a third of the physicians were uncertain about involving the patient in the decision making. The reason for this is unknown, but it has over the years been said that patients must not be worried with unpleasant issues [10, 148, 164]. Another reason may be that physicians feel uncomfortable discussing CPR with patients [183]. Furthermore, physicians have perhaps not been trained to discuss such issues [180]. Another explanation may be that physicians are not familiar with the rules. However, in 1990 a Swedish survey [7] showed that involvement of patients was less than ten per cent. This shows that a development of patient's rights has occurred over the years. Both in the US and UK the situation as to the guidelines is similar [34, 127, 141], but when it comes to practice many patients are still unheard [117].

The patients in study IV assumed that the physician has a duty to give information, and they also wanted to take part in the decision making.

Diagnosis, treatment and prognosis are important factors in DNR decision making, as well as the goals of treatment. This is discussed in paper VI, where a new clinical approach concerning "futility" is proposed. It separates conditions for futility from its moral consequences. Used systematically, this method may make it easier to gather the necessary conditions for futility, and make the relevant values visible.

Most of the medical ethicists, many of them are physicians as well, regarded the physi-

cians to be the final decision makers, in almost half of the cases in a unilateral and paternalistic manner. However, joint decision making seems to increase with time.

### Patients

Half of the physicians and nurses believed that the patients should be consulted or make the DNR decision themselves (paper I), but only one third of them were involved. Furthermore, over one third of the responders were uncertain. This may reflect that the physicians and nurses do not know, or fully accept, the official recommendations.

Only one of the 20 interviewed patients (paper IV) had any substantial knowledge about CPR. There are studies showing that television programmes are the main source of information and education about CPR [127, 166, 167]. In UK, one study showed that a quarter of patients in British television medical dramas who received CPR on screen seemed to survive. The overall survival rate of patients after CPR seems to be more realistic than in American medical dramas [73]. Thus, all patients are not sufficiently informed to make a well-founded decision to forgo CPR.

Some of the medical ethicists emphasised that the patient should make an advance directive, or take part in a joint decision making, but thought that the patients' view did not count too much anyway (paper VI).

A recent Swedish study about CPR on heart failure patients [219] gives the possibility of comparison with study IV, in certain aspects. The patients in their study were not as ill as the patients in paper IV. Only one of the 40 patients had discussed CPR with the physician. Their knowledge about CPR performance was quite good, but almost all of the patients overestimated the good effect, and half of them were unaware about the risk of suffering severe brain damage due to a protracted period of oxygen deficit. The majority of the patients would like the physician to bring up the question of CPR and welcomed the opportunity to discuss the issue. However, they seemed to be pleased with the information, and said they would, in the end, leave the final decision to the physician. Most patients had never thought about CPR, but 90 per cent of them were willing to undergo CPR at the present time, and two thirds would opt for CPR even though the chance of survival was five per cent or less. None of the patients felt uncomfortable or distressed whilst discussing the subject with the interviewer. Apart from the better knowledge and willingness to receive CPR, the results of this study are very similar to those of paper IV. Also the method of 'clinical talk' is presented in a similar way, and together the two articles increase the validity of the method [219, IV].

In some countries there is an opportunity for patients to make advance directives, i.e. to sign a document telling the health care givers what the patient wants, in the case he or she no longer is capable of decision making or communicating. In Sweden, the possibility of advance directives has not been developed to the same level as the US, where they are strongly recommended [27, 28, 29, 45, 74, 76, 83, 93, 99, 132, 145, 147, 149, 155, 186, 192, 213].

The clinical impression in Sweden is that more and more patients want to declare their opinion of rejecting life support in certain situations. This possibility is mentioned in recent guidelines on CPR [187], but there is also stated that advance directives, or living wills, have no legal validity in Sweden. However, a statement from the patient opens up for a discussion in the future, and advance directives are thereby desirable.

In UK, a recent paper shows that 82 per cent of medical in-patients (n=76) had not heard of living wills, advance directives, or advance statements. However, after explanation, 74 per cent expressed interest in writing a living will, most commonly because their views would be known, and to relieve the burden of decisions on their family [165].

#### Nurses

The Swedish recommendations state that the staff should be consulted before a DNR order is issued. This was found to be well recognised among both nurses and physicians (paper II). In this survey many nurses declare that they can make such a decision themselves and some physicians think so too. However, this statement must be confirmed by more refined methods, e.g. with interviews. To include nurses in DNR decision making does not seem to have been an option in other countries, but there are several studies where nurses' views on DNR orders are compared to physicians' [22, 31, 41, 120]. Most of them report minor differences ( $\pm$  20%) between physicians' and nurses' views. One of them [43], focuses on the "*slow codes*", which are CPR efforts "that involve a deliberate decision not to attempt aggressively to bring a patient back to life. Either because the full armamentarium of pharmacological and mechanical interventions is not used or because the length of the effort is shortened, a full attempt at resuscitation is not made". This is a wellknown concept in the US, but it has not been studied in Sweden.

Some patients in study IV allowed nurses to take part in the DNR information but did not regard them as decision makers. A few of the medical ethicists mentioned nurses as a part of the health care team, who might have a decision making authority (paper VI).

The clinical impression is that nurses often have more information about the views of the patient and the family than the physician, and it is therefore important to use this information in decision making.

#### Relatives

Relatives are not often mentioned as decision makers in Sweden. The situation is different in US, where they may become legal surrogates. About 10 per cent of the responders in paper III were "relative-oriented", but we do not know if they would allow the relatives to make the decision.

Only a few of the interviewed patients thought that the family should decide in their place (paper IV). Some relatives were happy that they did not have to take responsibility to withhold or withdraw treatment. However, one of them was distressed when her "head-

strong" brother was not competent any more, and she felt obliged to make decisions for him (paper V).

Among the medical ethicists, only one article proposed that relatives should be decision makers (paper VI). Some others thought that the patient and family should make joint decisions.

#### Different aspects on DNR decisions

After the studies I-III were performed, the literature was again searched for DNR decision making. Many aspects of this theme have evidently gained interest, e.g. *DNR decision making in general* [31, 32, 54, 109], the *timing of the DNR decision* [40, 77, 169], the *autonomy of the patient* [53, 150, 162], *patient's consent* [5, 96, 106, 177], *competence* [22, 39, 129], and *understanding of a DNR order* [62, 97, 113, 169, 191, 211].

Also *DNR against the wish of patients* or relatives [107], and *changes in preference of patients* [72, 160] have been discussed in recent years. Some papers have focused on the *frequency of DNR orders* [59, 95, 171, 175, 179, 197, 206, 212, 216], and *compliance with DNR orders* [67, 157, 176, 197], *the age of the patient* [19, 24, 33, 36, 61, 64, 78, 138, 161, 181], as well as *cultural* [63, 68, 81, 90, 104, 115, 124, 152, 163], *ethnical* [194], *racial* [64, 172], *psychosocial* [143], *economic* [8, 17], or *sociodemographic* [194] influences. Other papers have described special problems: *DNR orders in the operating room* [1, 9, 18, 30, 35, 71, 121, 130] or *X-ray department* [86, 93, 135]. *Iatrogenic heart arrests* [26] or patients with *various diagnoses* [2, 3, 91, 108, 117, 126], and *prognosis* [15, 122, 156, 173, 211, 214] have also been discussed. Furthermore, *influences of private care* [103] and *workload for the nurses* in intensive care units [154, 182] have been presented, as well as *effects of DNR-audit* [82, 115, 192] and *computer based DNR orders* [85].

Very few of the perspectives mentioned in these two paragraphs have so far been studied in Sweden.

#### Possible ethical conflicts

An ethical conflict arises when two or more ethical obligations are not fully respected, or when the interests of two or more affected persons are difficult to fulfil.

Most respondents in paper I thought that the latest DNR decision was "ethically right", Most also stated that it was well timed or perhaps somewhat late. As more than half of the patients were not included in the discussion, the procedure can hardly be "ethically right" because the autonomy of the patient was not respected. However, the respondents may have misunderstood the word "ethically", and thought of "timely", "medically", "emotionally" or "psychologically" etc. More discussions about ethical issues in health care may put the terms in order.

The potential conflict between the autonomy of the patient or surrogate and of the physician in life support decision making is evident. In the clinical setting, however, serious conflicts seem to be uncommon. Only one case has been brought to court in Sweden [220]. This low number may depend on an ambition of consensus between all agents and affected, or perhaps on lingering paternalistic attitudes, desired or not.

There is also a risk of conflict between the principles of autonomy and nonmaleficence, in that the patient may be harmed if he or she is not included in the decision making against his or her wish.

A death with dignity is desirable, and if the patient has had the opportunity to decide for himself, the distress for himself, the family and the staff is diminished. Substituted judgement by the family may not be needed [146]. This is presumably good for all parties. Several studies have shown that many relatives have never discussed preferences of treatment with the patient, and they may have different opinions compared to the patients [80, 110, 170].

#### Communication

The communication of facts and values regarding the conditions and consequences of futility is a critical issue. To create a dialogue about this is perhaps one of the most challenging tasks in health care. At the same time this is one of the most important tasks, as the autonomy of the patient has been increasingly emphasised in the western countries.

Communication is difficult to separate from joint decision making, especially when performed in the most comprehensive form, the free, open, and iterated dialogue. Earlier, the most common communication was unidirectional, from physician to patient. When a DNR order was issued ten years ago, the dialogue was uncommon both in USA and in Europe.

The latest British guidelines on DNR orders state that "Good communication, both within the health care team and with the patient and those close to the patient, is an essential part of decision making. Wherever possible, consensus should be sought...." [16].

#### **Physicians**

In America (in 1991), 90 per cent of the physicians had an ambition to involve the patients, but only 10 per cent of them were involved [34]. In paper I (in 1995) the corresponding numbers were 50 and 33 per cent, the latter most often by the initiative from the patient. There was a remarkable uncertainty of 37 per cent among the Swedish cardiologists. In 1990, only 7 per cent of Swedish internists used to talk about DNR orders with their patients [7]. Although the material in paper I is small, two points are obvious, the uncertainty and the discrepancy between the ideals and the reality. Both may be dealt with by education and discussing different attitudes.

The prognosis was discussed with all the 30 patients judged to be competent by the respondents (paper I). This may be regarded as the first step of a possible dialogue about a DNR decision. Exactly why the dialogue did not progress is not known from this study. First, one can speculate if the patients gave signals to stop the dialogue, which is unlikely when compared with patients in Europe [21, 88, 127, 131, 152], in USA [57, 111, 134, 183], and also when compared to the opinions of the patients in paper IV. Second, the physicians may be embarrassed when talking with the patients about DNR orders [183]. Third, the physicians do not know how to proceed. To elucidate this, an interview study with follow-up questions is presumably a better method than a questionnaire. Hopefully, patients and physicians might be helped by the method of "clinical conversation", described in paper IV.

#### Patients

Most of the interviewed patients wanted an open and straightforward discussion (paper IV). This is confirmed by practically all other studies on DNR communication, and also when communication with cancer patients has been studied [118]. In an interview study including 206 physicians, patient disclosure was promoted by the use of open questions, by focusing on and clarifying psychological aspects, by empathic statements, by summarising and making educated guesses. Leading questions, talking about physical aspects, moving into advice and reassurance mode inhibited patient disclosure.

Almost all patients in paper IV were positive about the opportunity to talk about their future prospects. Only a few patients said that certain issues were difficult to discuss. This response was so surprising and encouraging to the interviewer that this may have caused overenthusiastic interpretations. Other researchers have to confirm the usefulness of the "conversation method". As mentioned earlier, Ågård *et al.* [219], have used a similar method, 'clinical talks', with comparable results.

#### Nurses

The uncertainty of the nurses about the opinions of the patients are equal to that of the physicians [paper II], which again may be dealt with by education.

Most patients would accept a nurse to participate in the discussion, but when asked, none of them named any of the attending staff nurses. Instead, some patients considered that the district nurse or deaconess was the best one to participate. This may depend on the short stay in hospital, or perhaps that the patients were moved around, meeting a large number of different nurses (and doctors). When organising the hospital care, efforts to facilitate communication with the staff ought to be considered, for instance to ensure continuity and privacy, and to increase the available time for communication.

#### **Relatives**

Relatives are very important for the communication in several aspects. They may for instance influence the communication with the patient if they ask about already issued DNR orders, for instance oppose information to the patient, according to paper III. Some patients in paper IV would accept a family member joining in the conversation, not primarily for his or her own sake, but to give sufficient information to the relatives.

Many relatives in paper V felt reasonably well informed about the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment, despite the fact that they also were embarrassed by perpetually meeting new doctors and nurses. Quite a few of the relatives were obviously not aware of the DNR order and those who were did not seem to be worried about being informed. The results of paper V are similar to American studies focusing on relatives [79, 195]. Luce & Fink [116] has also recommended preparations to counsel relatives in end-of-life situations in the intensive care unit.

#### Documentation

Regarding the internal staff communication, over two thirds of the physicians stated that they had documented the DNR decision, both in the case record and the nurses' case sheet [paper I]. Thus, there seems to have been a considerable development from 1990, when 28 per cent of the physicians signed the DNR order [7], until 1995, when 72 per cent said they did so. The paper by Asplund & Britton [7] and Swedish recommendations [58, 65] have probably caused an increased awareness.

In Sweden, we do not know whether the preferences of the patients are in agreement with the ward notes. In the US, however, this has been studied. Nineteen consecutive patients with DNR orders and the consultant physician, house officer, primary nurse were all interviewed. The agreement with the ward notes and the staff was good (77 – 82%), better than that with the consultant (59%) [184]. Another American study [109] showed that chart orders to limit therapy are common, but physician-patient discussions about life-sustaining treatments are not. A Canadian retrospective study of 53 patients with high risk of cardiopulmonary arrest showed that 19 per cent had preferences addressed before the arrest, and 43 per cent after arrest. Of the 23 patients initially surviving cardiac arrest, all were subsequently given DNR orders [101].

#### Efforts to improve communication

Quite a few of the responders in papers I-III are uncertain about the rules surrounding DNR orders, their own attitudes, and how to communicate DNR orders. It seems that this situation needs to be improved.

There have been many efforts to study and to improve communication about DNR orders between physicians and patients in the last decade. Unfortunately, many results are not encouraging.

One American, 2-year prospective observational study with 4301 patients followed by a 2-year controlled clinical trial with 4804 patients failed to show that specially trained nurses actually improved the patient-physician communication. The nurses had multiple contacts with the patient, family, physician and staff to elicit preferences, improve under-

standing of outcomes, encourage attention to pain control, and facilitate advance care planning. Nor was the incidence or timing of written DNR orders, physicians' knowledge of their patients' preferences not to be resuscitated improved [185].

Other studies have reported that written information is a poor method of communicating DNR orders with patients [191], or that physicians often did not provide essential information about CPR [208]. Education for physicians to discuss with patients has not been efficient [202]. Hospital based regulatory and educational interventions have failed to encourage physicians to discuss end-of-life care with their patient [174]. Advance directives have not increased CPR discussion between physicians and patients [37, 49, 109, 207], although they have been increasingly recommended [41, 48, 49, 89].

There is also the possibility that sick people change their minds [151], which may seem like a problem, but has opened for further discussions. Even if they are not legally accepted in Sweden, they "may open the door to a positive, caring approach to death", as they do in USA [51].

A specific form for "Resuscitation Status and a Treatment Plan" has been used in clinical practise. It included 93 per cent of the patients with decision making capacity. Approximately 65 per cent of all DNR orders were supported by the forms, compared to earlier charts, when less than five per cent of the patients were included [99]. Another structured DNR order form improved agreement in understanding of some, but not all components of the DNR order [84].

#### Possible ethical conflicts

Both discussing CPR and not discussing CPR may be harmful, which means that the principle of non-maleficence is invoked in two ways (non-maleficence versus non-maleficence). In the short term patients may be happy without dreary information, but in the long term it is usually harmful not to know. It is therefore no good that one third of the responders (paper I) believed that there are patients who want information about DNR, but do not receive it. Some of them also thought that patients get information that they do not want. The most distressing results is however, that half of the respondents are uncertain about the patient's wish. How much harm is caused by this ignorance? In the SUPPORT study [185], the physicians often neglected the patients' wishes about CPR, and many of the patients missed the opportunity to discuss the DNR order when they were still capable of communication. The physicians also seem to have neglected the patients' pain. Ignorance of the patients' treatment preferences have been observed many times, for instance by Uhlmann *et al.* [204], who reported that physicians and nurses correctly predicted the patients' treatment preferences in 53 - 84 per cent of the cases, but they did not significantly agree with each other.

The patients may be harmed not only by the disclosure of unpleasant news but also by not being informed about prognosis and treatments. This possibility of harm can get into conflict with the ambition to inform, and thereby to increase the patient's opportunity to decide for himself, i.e. non-maleficence versus autonomy.

The patient has a right to know, but also a right not to be informed if he or she wishes, and the physician should take that into consideration as well.

There is also a risk that every single patient does not become informed in the same manner, depending on various attitudes or routines. This has not been shown, or even suspected, in the present studies, but it has been reported elsewhere that patients with cancer are managed differently from other patients with the same prognosis [208]. Also the age of the patient may be a cause of discrimination [25]. In such cases the principle of justice is violated, and conflicts with autonomy as well as non-maleficence may arise.

One reason not to inform the patient about a bad prognosis has been that this will take the hope away from the patient [164]. The Swedish geriatrician Beck-Friis holds that few, if any, dying patient hopes for health and cure. Instead, "the hope in the end of life is to get acknowledged, that someone is caring, that the patient is respected, that he or she gets true information. Truth and hope does not exclude each other. When the truth is that the illness gives difficult symptoms, then the hope is be spared from pain, to be spared from abandonment, to dare to live until death" [14].

Informing about CPR and the possibility of DNR may also be beneficent. Despite the fact that not much concrete or individual information was handed over to the patients during the 'clinical conversations' discussed in paper IV, they were pleased with them, and wanted such a conversation with their own physician, for themselves as well as for others. They wanted to know the truth and seemed to be sorry that their physician had showed little interest in a dialogue. A good relation with physicians and nurses was emphasised by both patients and relatives. Perhaps, they did not feel abandoned when invited to a conversation, which otherwise seem to be an obvious risk, according to the relatives who complained about moving around the patients. All this is in line with the principle of beneficence, and with good professional virtues of, for instance, responsibility and patient-oriented attitudes.

#### Guidelines, attitudes and behaviour

According to, Beauchamp & Childress [11], there are many professional virtues, e.g. respectfulness, truthfulness, faithfulness, responsibility, advocacy, persistence, courage, compassion, discernment, trustworthiness, integrity and conscientiousness. Put together in the clinical situation they may be described in terms of attitudes and behaviour. These two concepts have to be clearly distinguished as there are many examples of *intentions to act* (attitude) that are not *realised in action* (behaviour).

#### Guidelines and attitudes - discrepancies

All Swedish, British and American guidelines now recommend that patients should be

included in the decision making on DNR. However, in the literature there are several examples of a discrepancy between guidelines and attitudes.

Most of the responders in paper I thought that DNR orders were right to use, but only two thirds of the responders had a firm opinion about the participation of the patient. The earlier Swedish study reported 98 per cent application in medical wards, but very few patients were involved. Almost all of the physicians (93%) stated that they never, or in the minority of cases, included the patient in the discussion [7].

There seems to be a great difference in attitude to inform the patient about a DNR order whether someone asks for it or not (paper III). When in conflict about who ought to be informed, the physicians and nurses are more patient-oriented than relative-oriented. The reason of this difference of informing is not known, and ought to be studied more in detail. Withholding disquieting information ought to diminish psychological harm, at least in the short term. In the long run, the non-informed patient (or relative) may be upset and loose confidence in health care.

Paper VI gives an intimation about the attitudes of the different authors arguing for unilateral decisions by the physicians or unidirectional information to the patients in 13 out of 43 articles. Most articles (32 of 43) stated that the physicians should be the decision makers. Very few treated the patients' perspectives [134]. However, there has been a development towards patient autonomy the last two decades. Until recently, Percival's view from 1803 seems to have been prevailing.

Of 52 burn nurses, 88 per cent thought that DNR decisions should not be made solely by physicians, and 75 per cent opposed decisions from ethics committees. Half of them (56%) felt that nurses should be involved, but 21 per cent opposed that. There was a considerable uncertainty about what a DNR order included [152].

A comparison of medical and nursing attitudes to resuscitation and patient autonomy has been made between a British and an American hospital [128]. It included 34 physicians and nurses in each hospital and showed that British physicians often made DNR decisions unilaterally, while the American physicians sought the patient's or surrogate's consent in most instances, even where it was not legally required.

Of 640 US physicians, 20 per cent wanted CPR for themselves in the setting of chronic end stage organ failure. A significant number were in favour of active euthanasia. The study suggests that it is unlikely that physicians' personal beliefs regarding end-of-life care, result in the failure to discuss these issues with their patients [123].

One study has attempted to influence the attitudes. Twenty surgical residents got interactive teaching episodes regarding withdrawing and withholding treatment, advance directives, DNR orders, informed consent, and communicating bad news. They showed significant improvement for 13 of 23 items in pre-test compared to post-test surveys [4].

Attitudes and behaviour - discrepancies

In the present studies, discrepancies of attitudes and behaviour were not inquired for in detail, but the patients could tell that very few physicians had actually talked with them about DNR decisions. Of the relatives, almost two thirds were informed, according to the case books. The patient's goals should determine or at least influence the timing and sequence of withdrawing interventions [20], why they ought to be known.

Advocacy for the patients is a hallmark in modern nursing ethics [11]. In paper II, 36 per cent of the nurses stated that they had initiated the discussion about DNR within the health care team. Another 45 per cent answered that some other nurse had taken the initiative. The precise reason for this was not asked for in this study, but the clinical experience is that nurses often state that the patients must be allowed to 'die with dignity'. Usually, it seems that one nurse and more than one physician participated in the decisions. There is not much information in the literature about the nurses' actual involvement in DNR decision making, but according to one report [34], only ten per cent of the nurses initiated the decision making. This difference of taking the initiative (81% versus 10 %) is probably due to the greater subordination of the nurses in USA.

There are also examples in the literature of the discrepancy between attitudes and behaviour. A large prospective observational study failed to show that specially trained nurses actually improved the patient-physician communication [185].

Of 69 physicians in a general hospital, 33 felt that CPR should be offered only to patients likely to benefit from it, while 36 physicians said CPR should be offered to all patients, regardless of benefit. In effect, CPR was offered to 41 patients of whom 27 were considered to be unlikely to benefit from CPR [188].

Of 368 admissions to ICU, 23 per cent were designed DNR. In 7 per cent of these cases, the responsible nurse did not agree with the decision. In 3 per cent the patient or family did not concur. In 12 per cent of the cases not designed DNR, there was a disagreement between physicians and nurses. Physicians were significantly more pro DNR [46].

To determine the reasons why attending physicians do not write DNR orders, a 5member panel identified 149 consecutive patients for whom DNR orders were indicated. In 88 of these, DNR orders were absent. The physicians' explanations included the belief that the patient was not in imminent danger of death (n=49), that the primary physician should discuss DNR issues (n=43), and the lack of an appropriate opportunity to discuss end-of-life issues (n=38). In 11 of the 88 cases, patients or their families did not accept the recommendation of a DNR order. No physicians expressed concerns regarding the morality of DNR orders, discomfort discussing end-of-life issues, or the threat of litigation as reasons for not writing a DNR order [47].

# IMPLICATIONS FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE

- Start a dialogue about end-of-life support with chronically ill and elderly patients, and their relatives, while they still are capable of understanding and authorisation
- The clinical conversation model may make this easier
- Ask if the patients would appreciate a nurse to participate in the conversation
- All involved ought to understand why certain decisions are made
- The use of a prognostic index may sometimes facilitate decision making
- Conditions and consequences of futility should be ascertained together with the patients, the relatives and the staff, after which a joint decision may be reached

# **FUTURE RESEARCH**

- Is it possible to start a dialogue about DNR orders earlier? If yes, how? when? by whom?
- Does the described model for futility discussion work?
- Does joint decision making work?
- May advance directives about forgoing life-sustaining treatment work in Sweden?
- Which ethical conflicts do the affected actors actually experience?
- Why is the willingness to inform about a DNR depending on whether someone asks for information or not?

## SUMMARY IN SWEDISH

Hjärt-lungräddning (HLR) introducerades 1960 och fick genast stor betydelse vid behandlingen av hjärtinfarkt. Så småningom kom metoden att användas vid nästan alla tillfällen då hjärtat stannade. I mitten av 70-talet började man i USA utfärda ordinationer till sjuksköterskorna att HLR inte skulle startas på vissa patienter i händelse av att hjärtat skulle stanna. Detta beslut fattades av läkaren, oftast utan att vare sig patient, anhöriga eller sjukvårdspersonalen tillfrågades. Beslutet dokumenterades inte sällan med hjälp av koder i journalen.

Under 80-talet utvecklades riktlinjer om att patienten, anhöriga och sjukvårdspersonalen skulle involveras i beslutet att avstå från HLR (ej-HLR). Detta berodde främst på ökad respekt för patienternas självbestämmande, enligt den etiska "autonomi-principen". Röster höjdes att information om "ej-HLR" till patienten själv skulle skada honom eller henne psykologiskt. Detta borde undvikas enligt "icke-skada-principen". Andra ansåg att det gynnar patienten att få kännedom om, och helst kunna påverka, planerad behandling, enligt "godhets-principen". "Rättvise-principen" framhåller att alla patienter, oavsett t ex diagnos, kön eller ålder bör behandlas lika. Principer om att sjukvårdspersonalen ska vara sanningsenlig, trofast, modig, pålitlig och agera samvetsgrant ansågs också viktiga i sammanhanget. Alla dessa etiska principer och ideal kan råka i konflikt med varandra i olika situationer.

I Sverige presenterade Asplund och Britton år 1990 en studie som visade att läkare på medicinklinikerna sällan talade med sina patienter om "ej-HLR". Läkarna talade oftare, men ej alltid, med de anhöriga om saken. Inte sällan var det sjuksköterskorna som förde "ej-HLR" på tal, eftersom de hade ansvaret för att starta HLR då hjärtat stannade. Råd om livsuppehållande åtgärder i livets slutskede gavs ut av Socialstyrelsen 1992. Grunden för "ej-HLR" skulle vara att patienten inte ville ha behandlingen eller att läkaren efter att ha ställt en säker diagnos och prognos, kunde veta att HLR inte skulle lyckas. Patientens, anhörigas och personalens åsikter skulle inhämtas inför beslutet, som också måste dokumenteras tydligt.

Det saknades dock kunskap om hur beslut om "ej-HLR" fattades, kommunicerades och uppfattades av läkare, patienter, sjuksköterskor och anhöriga. Det var utgångspunkten till att dessa studier startades 1995. Syftet var att undersöka om gällande rekommendationer accepterades av vårdpersonalen och att analysera etiska aspekter rörande beslut och information. Vidare var syftet att kartlägga läkares och sjuksköterskors inställning till att informera patienter och anhöriga, att se om det kliniska samtalet kan användas för att ta reda på om svårt sjuka patienter vill tala om att avstå från livsuppehållande åtgärder. De anhörigas erfarenheter av situationen kring patientens dödsfall och deras inställning med hänsyn till dessa var också av intresse. Ett ytterligare syfte var att beskriva villkor för och konsekvenser av "meningslösa vårdinsatser" och att föreslå en kliniskt användbar metod att hantera "meningslösa vårdinsatser".

Trehundra läkare och sjuksköterskor i Svenska Cardiologföreningen fick besvara en enkät om sina erfarenheter av och attityder till att avstå från HLR och deras inställning till att informera patienter och anhöriga om "ej-HLR"-beslutet. Svarsfrekvensen var 73%. Därefter intervjuades 20 svårt sjuka patienter och 21 anhöriga till patienter som avlidit efter ett beslut om "ej-HLR". Slutligen granskades litteraturen beträffande "meningslösa vårdinsatser" för att söka efter vilka villkor och moraliska konsekvenser som beskrivits i sammanhanget.

Resultaten visade att 84% av läkarna och 8% av sjuksköterskorna själva fattat beslut om att avstå från HLR. De ombads erinra sig det senaste tillfället då förhandsbeslut fattats om detta. Endast en femtedel av de svarande bedömde att den aktuella patienten var kompetent att deltaga i ett beslut av detta slag. En tiondel av läkarna angav att de diskuterat beslutet med sina patienter, och men över hälften med de anhöriga. Nio av tio läkare och hälften av sjuksköterskorna hade själva deltagit i diskussionen. I de flesta fallen hade minst en läkare och minst en sjuksköterska hade deltagit i beslutet.

Nästan alla ansåg att beslutet i det aktuella fallet var etiskt rätt. Ungefär hälften av de svarande ansåg att samråd bör ske med patienten och att beslutet bör tas av patienten. Samtidigt ansåg nästan alla, att läkare skall fatta beslutet. En tredjedel av sjuksköterskorna ville själva ta ansvar för beslutet.

I intervjuerna med patienterna framkom att identifieringen av olika reaktionsmönster ger ökad förståelse och förbättrad kommunikation. Mönster, men ej frekvenser, kan generaliseras. Det "kliniska samtalet" är ej tidsödande, utan en enkel och av patienterna uppskattad metod. Det är inte oroande för patienten att tala om behandling i livets slutskede på detta sätt. Samtalet ger svar på och en bild av patientens kunskaper, värderingar och emotionella reaktioner.

I intervjuerna med de anhöriga framkom att de flesta var nöjda med vård och terapi, information och kommunikation. Nästan alla föreföll välinformerade om diagnos och prognos och menade att livsförlängande behandling inte varit aktuellt. Åtta av 21 anhöriga hade diskuterat HLR eller informerats om att HLR ej skulle ges. Ingen kände sig tvingad att fatta beslut. En del var överraskade över att de fick så mycket tid och engagemang av läkare och personal. Andra var besvikna på organisationen genom att patienterna flyttades runt mellan olika salar och avdelningar. För att få en förbättrad bättrad kommunikation behövs en personlig relation, god lättillgänglighet, uppmuntran och möjlighet att vara på sjukhuset.

I litteraturgenomgången beträffande "meningslösa vårdinsatser" var avsikten att finna en metod att systematiskt kunna analysera och hantera sådana situationer. Fyra grupper av faktiska villkor och tre grupper av moraliska konsekvenser kunde spåras i 43 artiklar. De flesta författarna ansåg att läkare skulle besluta om villkoren. Vårdinsatsen var oftast någon form av behandling och målen för behandlingen var "livskvalitet", fysiologisk förbättring (t ex bättre blodtryck) eller livsförlängning. Sannolikheten att lyckas med behandlingen beskrevs oftast i semi-kvantitativa termer. Konsekvenserna var att det kunde vara etiskt försvarbart, önskvärt eller nödvändigt att avstå från eller avbryta "meningslösa vårdinsatser". I de flesta artiklarna (29 av 43) angavs att besluten borde fattas i en dialog med patienten, medan fyra framhöll att det räckte med envägsinformation. Nio angav att patienten inte behövde informeras alls om beslutet. Nitton artiklar förespråkade att läkaren ensam fattar det avgörande beslutet.

Följande konklusioner och rekommendationer från studierna kan framhållas:

- Läkare och sjuksköterskor är osäkra beträffande regler och etiska aspekter när det gäller att avstå från HLR.
- Det finns skiljaktigheter mellan riktlinjerna för och inställningen till ej-HLR likaväl som mellan inställningen och genomförandet av beslutet hos läkare och sjuksköterskor
- Allvarligt sjuka patienter uppskattar öppna samtal om behandling i livets slutskede
- Anhöriga får godtagbar information och stöd, trots att de personliga relationerna ofta inte har möjlighet att utvecklas
- "Meningslösa vårdinsatser" kan hanteras genom systematisk analys av villkor för, och konsekvenser av, den speciella vårdinsats som anses meningslös
- Patienter, anhöriga, läkare och sjuksköterskor bör skapa en förtroendefull dialog om de nödvändiga besluten i livets slutskede
- Läkare och sjuksköterskor behöver utbildning och träning i etiska frågeställningar i vården
- Det finns flera möjliga etiska konflikter inom och mellan de etiska principerna självbestämmande, göra gott, icke skada och de professionella idealen
- Genom att starta en dialog med patienterna medan de fortfarande är kompetenta att förstå och att fatta beslut, får de möjlighet att själva påverka vården
- Den kliniska samtalsmodellen kan göra det enklare att kommunicera om frågor i livets slutskede
- Alla inblandade bör vara insatta i varför beslut om "ej-HLR" fattas
- Användandet av prognostiska instrument kan underlätta beslutsfattandet
- Villkor och konsekvenser för "meningslösa vårdinsatser" bör analyseras tillsammans med patienten, anhöriga och sjukvårdspersonalen, varefter ett gemensamt beslut kan fattas

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my gratitude to all who have been engaged in this thesis:

First of all, to my friend and tutor, Tore Nilstun, the 'Master of the matrix'. He knows how to condense a manuscript with at least two thirds and make my thoughts, wrapped in obscurity, look logical and vigorous – at least to me.

I also want to thank Tore's wife, Birgitta, who has been his inspiration for many years and, to and fro during the last five years, my landlady. Without her hospitality, this thesis would probably not have been written.

A very important condition for my development has been the formidable doctoral courses and seminars over the years, all of them arranged by Tore and Göran Hermerén – another erudite and excellent lecturer. Together they gave the impression that all courses were given to fulfil our desires – which they did. The mixture of experienced nurses, nurse tutors, physicians, philosophers, medical ethicists, hospital chaplains, and one lawyer, has, together with an open, respectful and helpful atmosphere, given rise to an extremely developing and fruitful co-operation – unheard of in the academic circles of today.

Accordingly, I want to thank my fellow participants in the doctoral seminars: Ingrid Bolmsjö, Stefan Bremberg, Linus Broström, Gunnel Elander, Inger Hallström, Lena Hoff, Pontus Höglund, Jonas Josefsson, Ingela Krantz, Ulla-Britt Larsson, Anita Lundquist, Gunilla Melltorp, Morten Nielsen, Marie Omnell Persson, Ingrid Runesson, Peter Sjökvist and Anders Ågård for your encouragement, for all your constructive ideas, and above all – for your friendship.

Without the first-rate service from the Medical Library of the County Hospital in Gävle – 'the best department of the hospital' – my articles had been much more hollow. Thank you all!

Lisette Olsson-Mayr, secretary of the Department of Medical Ethics, has helped a lot.

My thankfulness also goes to all members of the Swedish Cardiac Society who answered the questionnaires, and to the patients and relatives who volunteered to be interviewed.

I am grateful to my cardiology colleagues in Gävle, who have done the lion's share of the work while I have been away.

And last, I want to thank Anna, my wife, who came up with the idea of a second thesis and for her constructive criticism and her sharp pen. Our children Ulrika, Magnus and Staffan have been very encouraging and supportive.

A grant from the Research and Development Centre of the County Council of Gävleborg has been of great importance.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Ahronheim JC, Morrison RS, Baskin SA, Morris J, Meier DE. Treatment of the dying in the acute care hospital. Arch Intern Med. 1996; 156: 2094-2100
- 2. Alexandrov AV, Bladin CF, Meslin EM, Norris JW. Do-not-resuscitate orders in acute stroke. Neurology 1995; 45: 634-8
- 3. Alexandrov AV, Pullicino PM, Meslin EM, Norris JW. Agreement on disease-specific criteria for do-not-resuscitate orders in acute stroke. Stroke 1996; 27 : 232-7
- 4. Angelos P, DaRosa DA, Derossis AM, Kim B. Medical ethics curriculum for surgical residents: results of a pilot project. Surgery 1999; 126 : 701-5
- 5. Aoki Y, Nakagawa K, Hasezawa K, Tago M, Baba N, Toyoda K, Toyoda T, Kozuka T, Kiryu S, Igaki H, Sasaki Y. Significance of informed consent and truth-telling for quality of life in terminal cancer patients. Radiat Med 1997; 15: 133-5
- 6. Article 29-B, Statute 413 A. The State of New York Public health Law, effective April 1, 1988
- 7. Asplund K, Britton M. Do-not-resuscitate orders in Swedish medical wards. J Intern Med 1990; 228: 139-45
- 8. Bach PB, Carson SS, Leff A. Outcomes and resource utilization for patients with prolonged critical illness managed by university-based or community-based subspecialists. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158: 1410-5
- 9. Bastron RD. Ethical concerns in anaesthetic care for patients with do-not-resuscitate orders. Anaesthesiology 1996; 85: 1190-3
- 10. Bayliss RI. Thou shalt not strive officiously. BMJ 1982; 285:1373-5
- 11. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics (4th ed). New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press 1994
- 12. Bedell SE, Delbanco TL, Cook EF, Epstein FH. Survival after cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the hospital. N Engl J Med 1983; 309: 569-76
- 13. Bedell SE, Pelle D, Maher PL, Cleary PD. Do not resuscitate orders for critically ill patients in the hospital. JAMA 1986; 256: 233-7
- 14. Beck-Friis B. Truth and hope does not exclude each other (in Swedish). Läkartidningen 1995; 48: 4596
- 15. Bialecki L, Woodward RS. Predicting death after CPR. Experience at a nonteaching community hospital with a full-time critical care staff. Chest 1995; 108: 1009-17
- 16. BMA. Withholding and withdrawing life-prolonging medical treatment. London. United Kingdom: BMJ Books, 1999
- 17. Bock KR, Teres D, Rapoport J. Economic implications of the timing of do-not-resuscitate orders for ICU patients. Horiz 1997; 5: 51-5
- 18. Booth MJ. Nurse anesthetist reaction to the unexpected or untimely death of patients in the operating room. Holist Nurs Pract 1998; 13: 51-8

- 19. Boyd K, Teres D, Rapoport J, Lemeshow S. The relationship between age and the use of DNR orders in critical care patients. Evidence for age discrimination. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 1821-6
- Brody H, Campbell ML, Faber-Langendoen K, Ogle KS. Withdrawing intensive lifesustaining treatment – recommendations for compassionate clinical management. N Engl J Med 1997; 336: 652-7
- 21. Bruce-Jones P, Roberts H, Bowker L, Cooney V. Resuscitating the elderly: what do the patients want? J Med Ethics 1996; 22: 154-9
- 22. Burke FA. Dying by the rules. Legal decisions at the end of life. N C Med J 1996; 57: 386-9
- 23. Campbell ML, Thill MC. Impact of patient consciousness on the intensity of the do-not-resuscitate therapeutic plan. Am J Crit Care 1996; 5: 339-45
- 24. Cao L, Song W. Do-not-resuscitate orders in critical elderly: no age discrimination against elderly in a community hospital. Arch Intern Med 1998; 158: 1154
- 25. Carton RW, Brown MD. Ethical considerations and CPR in the elderly patient. Clinics in Chest Medicine 1993; 14: 591-9
- 26. Casarett DJ, Stocking CB, Siegler M. Would physicians override a do-not-resuscitate order when a cardiac arrest is iatrogenic? J Gen Intern Med 1999; 14: 35-8
- 27. Castle NG, Mor V. Advance care planning in nursing homes: pre- and post Patient Self-Determination Act. Health Serv Res 1998; 33: 101-24
- 28. Castro JG, Gloth MJ, Gloth FM 3rd. Advance directives in internal medicine outpatient residents' clinics. Md Med J 1998; 47: 74-6
- 29. Clemency MV, Thompson NJ. Do not resuscitate orders in the perioperative period: patient perspectives. Anesth Analg 1997; 84: 859-64
- 30. Cohen NH. Do not resuscitate orders in the operating room: the birth of a policy. Camb Q Health Ethics 1995; 4: 103-10
- 31. Cook DJ, Guyatt GH, Jaeschke R, Reeve J, Spanier A, King D, Molloy DW, Willan A, Streiner DL. Determinants in Canadian health care workers of the decision to withdraw life support from the critically ill. JAMA 1995; 273: 703-8
- 32. Cook DJ. Health professional decision-making in the ICU: a review of the evidence. New Horiz 1997; 5: 15-9
- Costante CC. Managing DNR requests in the school setting. J Sch Nurs 1998; 14: 49-55
- 34. Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs, American Medical Association. Guidelines for the appropriate use of Do-Not-Resuscitate orders. JAMA 1991; 265: 1868-71
- 35. Craig DB. Do not resuscitate orders in the operating room. Can J Anaesth. 1996; 43: 840-51
- 36. Daly BJ, Gorecki J, Sadowski A, Rudy EB, Montenegro HD, Song R, Dyer MA. Donot-resuscitate practices in the chronically critically ill. Heart Lung 1996; 25: 310-7

- Danis M, Southerland LI, Garret JM, Smith JL, Hielema F, Pickard CG, Egner DM, Patrick DL. A prospective study of advance directives for life-sustaining care. N Engl J Med 1991; 324: 882-8
- 38. Dautzenberg PLJ, Duursma SA, Bezemer PD, van Engen C, Schonwetter RS, Hooyer C. Resuscitation decisions on a Dutch geriatric ward. Quart J Med 1993; 86: 535-42
- 39. Dautzenberg PL, Hooyer C, Schonwetter RS, Dermout KM, van Veer JK, Duursma SA. Dementia in resuscitation policy: a prospective study of a psychogeriatric ward in a Dutch general teaching hospital. Age Ageing 1996; 25: 234-8
- 40. De Jonge KE, Sulmasy DP, Gold KG, Epstein A, Harper MG, Eisenberg JM, Schulman KA. The timing of do-not-resuscitate orders and hospital costs. J Gen Intern Med 1999; 14: 190-2
- 41. DePalma, Ozanich E, Miller S, Yancich LM. "Slow code": perspectives of a phycsician and a critical nurse. Crit Care Nurs Q 1999; 22: 89-97
- 42. Doyal L, Wilsher D. Withholding cardiopulmonary resuscitation: proposals for formal guidelines. BMJ 1993; 306: 1593-6.
- 43. Doyal L. Advance directives. BMJ 1995; 310: 612-3
- 44. Ebell MH. Prearrest predictors of survival following in-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation: A meta-analysis. J Fam Pract 1992; 34: 551-8
- 45. Eckberg E. The continuing ethical dilemma of the do-not-resuscitate order. AORN J 1998; 67: 783-7
- 46. Eliason AH, Howard RS, Torrington KG, Dillard TA, Phillips YY. Do-not-resuscitate decisions in the medical ICU: comparing physician and nurse opinions. Chest 1997; 111: 1106-11
- 47. Eliason AH, Parker JP, Shorr AF, Babb KA, Harris R, Aaronson BA, Diemer M. Impediments to writing do-not resuscitate orders Arch Intern Med 1999; 159: 2213-8
- 48. Emanuel LL, Barry MJ, Stoeckle JD, Ettelson LM, Emanuel EJ. Advance directives for medical care a case for greater use. N Engl J Med 1991; 324: 889-95
- 49. Emanuel LL. Advance directives: do they work? JACC 1995; 25: 35-8
- 50. Emanuel LL, Danis M, Pearlman RA, Singer PA. Advance care planning as a process: structuring discussions in practice. JAGS 1995; 43: 440-6
- 51. Emanuel L. How living wills can help doctors and patients talk about dying. BMJ 2000; 320: 1618-9
- 52. Encyclopedia of Ethics. Becker LC, ed., Chicago and London. St James Press 1992
- 53. Ferenz L, Dudley J. 'Do not resuscitate' orders. The right to refuse cardiopulmonary resuscitation. N C Med J. 1999; 60: 152-6
- 54. Fins JJ, Miller FG, Acres CA, Bacchetta MD, Huzzard LL, Rapkin BD. End-of-life decision-making in the hospital: current practice and future prospects. J Pain Symptom Manage 1999; 17: 6-15

- 55. Fitzpatrick R, Boulton M. Qualitative methods for assessing health care. Quality in Health Care 1994; 3: 107-13
- 56. Florin D. Decisions about cardiopulmonary resuscitation. BMJ 1994; 308: 1653-4
- 57. Frankl D, Oye RK, Bellamy PE. Attitudes of hospitalised patients toward life support a survey of 200 medical inpatients. Am J Med 1989; 86: 645-8
- 58. Friberg H, Lundberg D, Nilstun T. Ethical aspects on resuscitation (in Swedish). Läkartidningen 1994; 91: 3787-9
- 59. Friberg H, Adolfsson A, Lundberg D. Decisions not to resuscitate in a Swedish university hospital. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1997; 41: 1263-6
- 60. Fried C. Terminating life support: out of the closet! N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 390-1
- 61. Fried TR, Miller MA, Stein MD, Wachtel TJ. The association between age of hospitalised patients and the delivery of advanced cardiac life support. J Gen Intern Med 1996; 11: 257-61
- 62. Fries D, Kofler A, Hackl J, Schwamberger H, Klingler A, Antretter V, Schobersberger W. On the topic of do not resuscitate (DNR) orders on intensive care units: an evaluation of the present status on intensive care units of the Innsbruck University clinics. (in German) Wien Klin Wochenschr 1999; 111: 161-8
- 63. Fukaura A, Tazawa H, Nakajima H, Adachi M. Do-not-resuscitate orders at a teaching hospital in Japan. N Engl J Med 1995; 333: 805-8
- 64. Garcia JA, Romano PS, Chan BK, Kass PH, Robbins JA. Sociodemographic factors and the assignment of do-not-resuscitate orders in patients with acute myocardial infarctions. Med Care 2000; 38: 670-8
- 65. General Advice from the Social Board of Health and Welfare 1992: 2. Life-sustaining treatment at the end of life (in Swedish). Stockholm: Allmänna Förlaget, 1992
- 66. George AL, Folk BP, Crecelius PL, Campbell WB. Pre-arrest morbidity and other correlates of survival after in-hospital cardiopulmonary arrest. Am J Med 1988; 87: 28-34
- 67. Ghusn HF, Teasdale TA, Jordan D. Continuity of do-not resuscitate orders between hospital and nursing homesettings. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; 45: 465-9
- 68. Gifford GC. The new Hawaii comfort care only do-not-resuscitate law. Hawaii Med J 1999; 54: 506-7
- 69. Gillon R. Deciding not to resuscitate. J Med Ethics 1989; 15: 171-2
- 70. Giorgi A. Phenomenology and psychological research. Pittsburgh: Duquesne Univ Press, 1985
- 71. Golanowski M. Do not resuscitate: informed consent in the operating room and postanestesia care unit. J Post Anesth Nurs 1995; 10: 9-11
- Goodlin SJ, Zhong Z, Lynn J, Teno JM, Fago JP, Desbiens N, Connors AF Jr, Wenger NS, Phillips RS. Factors associated with use of cardiopulmonary resuscitation in seriously ill hospitalised adults. JAMA 1999; 282: 2333-9

- 73. Gordon PN, Williamson S, Lawler PG. As seen on TV: observational study of cardiopulmonary resuscitation in British television medical dramas. BMJ 1998; 317:780-3
- Gross CP, Reisman AB, Schwartz MD. The physician as ambivalent Samaritan: will internists resuscitate victims in out-of-hospital emergencies? J Gen Intern Med 1998; 13: 491-4
- 75. Gunasekera NPR, Tiller DJ, Clements LTS, Bhattacharya J. Elderly patients' view on cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Age and Aging 1986; 15: 364-8
- 76. Haidet P, Hamel MB, Davis RB, Wenger N, Reding D, Kussin PS, Connors AF Jr, Lynn J, Weeks JC, Phillips RS. Outcomes, preferences for resuscitation, and physician-patient communication among patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. SUPPORT Investigators. Am J Med 1998; 105: 222-9
- 77. Hakim RB, Teno JM, Harrell FE Jr, Knaus WA, Wenger N, Phillips RS, Layde P, Califf R, Connors AF Jr, Lynn J. Factors associated with do-not-resuscitate orders: patients' preferences, prognoses, and physicians' judgements. SUPPORT Investigators. Ann Intern Med 1996; 125: 284-93
- 78. Hamel MB, Davis RB, Teno JM, Knaus WA, Lynn J, Harrell F Jr, Galanos AN, Wu AW, Phillips RS. Older age, aggressiveness of care, and survival for seriously ill, hospitalised adults. Ann Intern Med 1999; 131: 721-8
- 79. Hanson LC, Danis M, Garrett J. What is wrong with end-of-life care? Opinions of bereaved family members. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; 45: 1339-44
- 80. Hare J, Pratt C, Nelson C. Agreement between patients and their self-selected surrogates on difficult medical decisions. Arch Intern Med 1992; 152: 1049-54
- 81. Haverkate I, van der Wal G. Policies on medical decisions concerning the end of life in Dutch health care institutions. JAMA 1996; 275: 435-9
- 82. Hayes S, Stewart K. The role of audit in making do not resuscitate decisions. J Eval Clin Pract 1999; 5: 305-12
- 83. Heffner JE, Barbieri C, Casey K. Procedure-specific do-not-resuscitate orders. Effect on communication of treatment limitations. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 793-7
- 84. Heffner JE, Barbieri C. Involvement of cardiovascular rehabilitation programs in advance directive education. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 1746-51
- 85. Heffner JE, Barbieri C, Francisca P, Brown LK. Communicating do-not-resuscitate orders with a computer-based system. Arch Intern Med 1998; 158: 1090-5
- 86. Heffner JE, Barbieri C. Compliance with do-not-resuscitate orders for hospitalised patients transported to radiology departments. Ann Intern Med 1998; 129: 801-5
- 87. Helft PR, Siegler M, Lantos J. The rise and fall of the futility movement. N Engl J Med 2000; 343: 293-6
- 88. Hill ME, MacQuillan G, Forsyth M, Heath DA. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation: who makes the decision? BMJ 1994; 308: 1677
- 89. Hope T. Advance directives. J Med Ethics 1996; 22: 67-8

- Hosaka T, Nagano H, Inomata C, Kobayashi I, Miyamoto T, Tamai Y, Tamura Y, Tokuda Y, Yonekura S, Saito H, Mori T. Nurses' perspectives concerning do-not-resuscitate (DNR) orders. Tokai J Exp Clin Med 1999; 24: 29-34
- 91. Hosford I, Brown E, Duncan C. Formulating a "do not resuscitate" policy for a psychogeriatric service: need for consultation with Maori. N Z Med J. 1995; 108: 226-8
- 92. Jacobson JA, Kasworm E, Battin MP, Francis LP, Green D, Botkin J, Johnson S. Advance directives in Utah. Information from death certificates and informants. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 1862-8
- 93. Jacobson JA, Gully JE, Mann H. "Do not resuscitate" orders in the radiology department: an interpretation. Radiology 1996; 198: 21-4
- 94. Jacobson JA, Kasworm E. May I take your order: a user-friendly resuscitation status and medical treatment plan form. Quality Management in Health Care 1999; 7: 13-20
- Jayes RL, Zimmerman JE, Wagner DP, Draper EA, Knaus WA. Do-not-resuscitate orders in intensive care units. Current practices and recent changes. JAMA 1993; 270: 2213-7
- 96. Jezewski MA. Obtaining consent for do-not-resuscitate status: advice from experienced nurses. Nurs Outlook 1996; 44: 114-9
- 97. Jezewski MA, Finnell DS. The meaning of DNR status: oncology nurses' experiences with patients and families. Cancer Nurs 1998; 21: 212-21
- Johnson SC. Advance directives: from the perspective of the patient and the physician. J R Soc Med 1996; 89: 568-70
- 99. Joss R, Schupfer M, Schefer H. Current aspects and problems relating to medical ethics in oncology (in German). Schweiz Rundsch Med Prax 1998; 87: 26-32
- 100. J.R.E. Editorial. When do we let the patient die? Ann Intern Med 1968; 68: 695-700
- 101. Kernerman P, Cook DJ, Griffith LE. Documenting life-support preferences in hospitalised patients. J Crit Care 1997; 12: 155-60
- 102. Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner P, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: A severity of disease classification Crit Care Med 1985; 13: 818-29
- 103. Kollef MH, Ward S. The influence of access to a private attending physician on the withdrawal of life-sustaining therapies in the intensive care unit. Crit Care Med 1999; 27: 2125-32
- 104. Konishi E. Nurses' attitudes towards developing a do not resuscitate policy in Japan. Nurs Ethics 1998; 5: 218-27
- 105. Kouwenhoven WB, Jude JR, Knickerbocker GG. Closed-chest cardiac massage. JAMA 1960; 173: 1064-7
- 106. Layson RT, & McConnell T. Must consent always be obtained for a do-not resuscitate order? Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 2617-20
- 107. Leonard CT, Doyle RL, Raffin TA. Do-not-resuscitate orders in the face of patient and family opposition. Crit Care Med 1999; 27: 1045-7

- 108. Levenson JW, McCarthy EP, Lynn J, Davis RB, Phillips RS. The last six months of life for patients with congestive heart failure. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000; 48: Suppl 101-9
- 109. Levin JR, Wenger NS, Ouslander JG, Zellman G, Schnelle JF, Buchanan JL, Hirsch SH, Reuben DB. Life-sustaining treatment decisions for nursing home residents: who discusses, who decides and what is decided? J Am Geriatr Soc 1999; 47: 82-7
- 110. Liddle J, Gilleard C, Neil A. The views of elderly patients and their relatives on cardiopulmonary resuscitation. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1994; 28: 228-9
- 111. Lo B, McLeod G, Saika G. Patient attitudes to discussing life-sustaining treatment. Arch Intern Med 1986; 146: 1613-5
- 112. Loftus E, Smith KD, Klinger MR, Fiedler J. Memory and mismemory of health events. In Questions about questions: Inquiries into the cognitive basis of surveys. Turner JM, ed. 1992: 102-37. New York: Russel Sage Foundation
- 113. Loscalzo JJ, Cooper DJ, Arena FP, Llovera I. Do families understand "do not resuscitate" orders? Oncology (Huntingt) 1996; 10: 504, 507, 511
- 114. Low JA, Yap KB, Chan KM, Tang T. Care of elderly patients with DNR orders in Singapore – a descriptive study. Singapore Med J 1998; 39: 456-60
- 115. Lowe J, Kerridge I. Implementation of guidelines for No-CPR orders by a general medicine unit in a teaching hospital. Aust N Z Med 1997; 27: 379-83
- 116. Luce JM, Fink C. Communicating with families about withholding and withdrawal of life support. Chest 1992; 101: 1185-6
- 117. Lynn J, De Vries KO, Arkes HR, Stevens M, Cohn F, Murphy P, Covinsky KE, Hamel MB, Dawson NV, Tsevat J. Ineffectiveness of the SUPPORT intervention: review of explanations. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000; 48 (Suppl): S206-13
- 118. Maguire P, Faulkner A, Booth K, Elliott C, Hillier V. Helping cancer patients disclose their concerns. Eur J Cancer 1996; 32: 78-81
- 119. Malterud K. Kvalitative metoder i medicinsk forskning. En innføring (in Norwegian). Oslo. Norway: Tano Aschehoug, 1996
- 120. Manias E. Australian nurses experiences and attitudes in the "Do Not Resuscitate" decision. Nurs Health 1998; 21: 429-41
- Margolis JO, McGrath BJ, Kussin PS, Schwinn DA. Do not resuscitate (DNR) orders during surgery: ethical foundations for institutional policies in the United States. Anesth Analg 1995; 80: 806-9
- 122. Marik PE, Craft M. An outcomes analysis of in-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation: the futility rationale for do not resuscitate orders. J Crit Care 1997; 12: 142-6
- 123. Marik PE, Varon J, Lisbon A, Reich HS. Physicians' own preferences to the limitation and withdrawal of life-sustaining therapy. Resuscitation 1999; 42: 197-201
- 124. Mason S. The ethical dilemma of the do not resuscitate order. Br J Nurs. 1997; 6: 646-9
- 125. McClung JA, Kamer RS. Implications of New York's Do-Not-Resuscitate Law. N Engl J Med 1990; 323: 270-2

- 126. McGraw KS. Should do-not-resuscitate orders be suspended during surgical procedures? AORN J 1998; 67: 794-6, 799
- 127. Mead GE, Turnbull CJ. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the elderly patients' and relatives' views. J Med Ethics 1995; 22: 39-44
- 128. Mello M, Jenkinson C. Comparison of medical and nursing attitudes to resuscitation and patient autonomy between a British and an American teaching hospital. Soc Sci Med 1998; 46: 415-24
- 129. Mitchell SL, Kiely DK, Lipsitz LA. The risk factors and impact on survival of feeding tube placement in nursing home residents with severe cognitive impairment. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157: 327-32
- 130. Mohr M. Ethical conflicts during anaesthesia. Anaestesist 1997; 46: 267-74
- 131. Morgan R, King D, Prajapati C, Rowe J. Views of elderly patients and their relatives on cardiopulmonary resuscitation. BMJ 1994; 308: 1677-8.
- 132. Morris BA, Van Niman SE, Perlin T, Lucic KS, Vieth J, Agricola K, McMurry MK. Health care professionals' accuracy in predicting patients' preferred code status. J Fam Pract 1995; 40: 41-4
- 133. Murphy DJ, Murray AM, Robinson BE, Campion EW. Outcome of cardiopulmonary resuscitation in the elderly. Ann Intern Med 1989; 111: 199-205
- 134. Murphy DJ, Burrows D, Santilli S, Kemp AW, Tenner S, Kreling B, Teno J. The influence of the probability of survival on patients' preferences regarding cardiopulmonary resuscitation. N Engl J Med 1994; 330: 545-9
- 135. Mylonakis E. Do-not-resuscitate orders in radiology departments. Ann Intern Med 1999; 131: 72-3
- 136. National Conference on Standards for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR) and Emergency Cardiac Care (ECC). JAMA 1974; 227: Suppl 833-68
- 137. Neuman WL. Social research methods. Boston. USA: Allyn and Bacon, 1997
- 138. Nuckton TJ, List ND. Age as a factor in critical care unit admissions. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 1087-92
- 139. O'Keeffe S, Ebell MH. Prediction of failure to survive following cardiopulmonary resuscitation: comparison of two predictive instruments. Resuscitation 1994; 28: 21-5
- 140. O'Keeffe ST, Noel J, Lavan JN. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation preferences in the elderly. Eur J Med 1993; 2: 33-5
- 141. Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990. Public law no. 101-508
- 142. Optimum care for hopelessly ill patients: a report of the Clinical Care Committee of the Massachusetts General Hospital. N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 362-4
- 143. O'Shea EM, Penson RT, Stern TA, Younger J, Chabner BA, Lynch TJ Jr. A staff dialogue on do not resuscitate orders: psychosocial issues faced by patients, their families, and caregivers. Oncologist 1999; 4: 256-62
- 144. Padkin A, Robinson R. DNR policy. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1993; 27: 335

- 145. Palker NB, Nettles-Carson B. The prevalence of advance directives: lessons from a nursing home. Nurse Pract 1995; 207-8, 13, 17-8
- 146. Parmley WW. The face of death grim reaper or rite of passage? JACC 1996; 27: 234-5
- 147. Partridge RA, Virk A, Sayah A, Antosia R. Field experience with prehospital advance directives. Ann Emerg Med 1998; 32: 589-93
- 148. Percival T. Medical Ethics; or a Code of Institutes and Precepts, Adapted to the Professional Conduct of Physicians and Surgeons. Manchester, England: S Russel 1803
- 149. Phillips RS, Wenger NS, Teno J, Oye RK, Youngner S, Califf R, Layde P, Desbiens N, Connors AF Jr, Lynn J. Choices of seriously ill patients about cardiopulmonary resuscitation: Correlates and outcomes. SUPPORT Investigators. Am J Med 1996; 100: 128-37
- 150. Pollack S. Detours on the road to autonomy. A critique of the New York State do-notresuscitate law. Arch Intern Med. 1996; 156: 1369-71
- 151. Potter JM, Stewart D, Duncan G. Living wills: would sick people change their minds? Postgrad Med J 1994; 70: 818-20
- 152. Purvis RJ, Law E, Still JM, Belcher K, Kito N, Dorman JB. Nurses' attitudes toward donot-resuscitate orders. J Burn Care Rehabil 1998; 19: 538-41
- 153. Rabkin MT, Gillerman G, Rice NR. Orders not to resuscitate. N Engl J Med 1976; 295: 364-6
- 154. Rapoport J, Teres D, Lemeshow S. Resource use implications of do not resuscitate orders for intensive care unit patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1996; 153: 185-90
- 155. Reilly BM, Wagner M, Magnussen CR, Ross J, Papa L, Ash J. Promoting inpatient directives about life-sustaining treatments in a community hospital. Results of a 3-year time-series intervention trial. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 2317-23
- 156. Retchin SM, Brown RS, Yeh SC, Chu D, Moreno L. Outcomes of stroke patients in Medicare fee for service and managed care. JAMA 1997; 278: 119-24
- 157. Richter J, Eisenmann MR. The compliance of doctors and nurses with do-not-resuscitate orders in Germany and Sweden. Resuscitation. 1999; 42: 203-9
- 158. Robertson GS. Resuscitation and senility: a study of patients' opinions. J Med Ethics 1993; 19: 104-7
- 159. Rosenberg M, Wang C, Hoffman-Wilde S, Hickham D. Results of cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Arch Intern Med 1993; 153: 1370-75
- 160. Rosenfeld KE, Wenger NS, Phillips RS, Connors AF, Dawson NV, Layde P, Califf RM, Liu H, Lynn J. Factors associated with change in resusciation preferences of seriously ill patients. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 1558-64
- 161. Rosenfeld KE, Wenger NS. Do-not-resuscitate orders in the elderly: age discrimination or patient preference? Arch Intern Med 1997; 157: 1041, 1043

- 162. Rosin AJ, Sonnenblick M. Autonomy and paternalism in geriatric medicine. The Jewish ethical approach to issues of feeding terminally ill patients, and to cardiopulmonary resuscitation. J Med Ethics 1998; 24: 44-8
- 163. Sahadevan S, Pang WS. Do-not-resuscitate orders: towards a policy in Singapore. Singapore Med J 1995; 36: 267-7
- 164. Schade SG, Muslin H. Do not resuscitate decisions: discussions with patients. J Med Ethics 1989; 15: 186-90
- Schiff R, Rajkumar C, Bulpitt C. Views of elderly people on living wills: interview study. BMJ 2000; 320: 1640-1
- 166. Schonwetter RS, Teasdale TA, Taffet G, Robinson BE, Luchi RJ. Educating the elderly: cardiopulmonary resuscitation decisions before and after intervention. J Am Geriatr Soc 1991; 39: 372-7
- 167. Schonwetter RS, Walker RM, Kramer DR, Robinson BE. Resuscitation decision making in the elderly. J Gen Intern Med 1993; 8: 295-300
- 168. Schulman KA. The timing of do-not-resuscitate orders and hospital costs. J Gen Intern Med 1999; 14: 190-2
- Schultz-Grant LD, Young-Cureton V, Kataoka-Yahiro M. Advance directives and do not resuscitate orders: nurses' knowledge and the level of practice in school settings. J Sch Nurs 1998; 14: 4-10, 12-3
- 170. Seckler AB, Meier DE, Mulvihill M, Cammer Paris BE. Substituted judgement: how accurate are proxy predictions? Ann Intern Med 1991; 115: 92-8
- 171. Shepardson LB, Youngner SJ, Speroff T, O'Brien RG, Smyth KA, Rosenthal GE. Variation in the use of do-not-resuscitate orders in patients with stroke. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157: 1841-7
- 172. Shepardson LB, Gordon HS, Ibrahim SA, Harper DL, Rosenthal GE. Racial variation in the use of do-not-resuscitate orders. J Gen Intern Med 1999; 14: 15-20
- 173. Shepardson LB, Youngner SJ, Speroff T, Rosenthal GE. Increased risk of death in patients with do-not-resuscitate orders. Med Care 1999; 37: 727-37
- 174. Shorr AF, Niven AS, Katz DE, Parker JM, Eliason AH. Regulatory and educational initiatives fail to promote discussions regarding end-of-life care. J Pain Symptom Manage 2000; 19: 168-73
- 175. Skogvoll E, Isern E, Sangolt GK, Gisvold SE. In-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation. 5 years' incidence and survival according to the Utstein template. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1999; 43: 177-84
- 176. Sloan A. Don't resuscitate, lose your job? RN 1996; 59: 51-4
- 177. Smith TJ, Desch CE, Hackney MH, Shaw JE. How long does it take to get a "do not resuscitate" order? J Palliat Care 1997; 13: 5-8
- 178. Solomon MZ, O'Donnell L, Jennings B, Guilfoy V, Wolf SM, Nolan K, Jackson R, Koch-Weser D, Nonnelley S. Decisions near the end of life: professional views on lifesustaining treatments. Am J Publ Health 1993; 83: 14-23

- 179. Sovik O, Naess AC. Incidence and content of written guidelines for "do not resuscitate" orders. Survey at six different somatic hospitals in Oslo (in Norwegian). Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1997; 117: 4206-9
- 180. Stewart K. Discussing cardiopulmonary resuscitation with patients and relatives. Postgrad Med J 1995; 71: 585-9
- 181. Stewart K, Wagg A, Kinirons M. When can elderly patients be excluded from discussing resuscitation? J R Coll Physicians Lond 1996; 30: 133-5
- 182. Stillwell SB, Woletz J, Piedmonte MR, Popovich MJ. The impact of do-not-resuscitate orders on nursing workload in an ICU. Am J Crit Care 1997; 6: 400-5
- 183. Stolman CJ, Gregory JJ, Dunn D, Levine JL. Evaluation of patient, physician, nurse, and family attitudes toward do not resuscitate orders. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150: 653-8
- 184. Sulmasy DP, Dwyer M, Marx E. Do the ward notes reflect the quality of end-of-life care? J Med Ethics 1996; 22: 344-8
- 185. SUPPORT Principal Investigators. A controlled trial to improve care for seriously ill hospitalised patients. JAMA 1995; 274: 1591-8
- Suri DN, Egleston BL, Brody JA, Rudberg MA. Nursing home resident use of care directives. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1999; 54: M225-9
- 187. Swedish Society of Medicine. Guidelines for decision making on cardiopulmonary resuscitation (in Swedish). Stockholm. Sweden: Svenska Läkaresällskapet 2000: 1-2
- 188. Swig L, Cooke M, Osmond D, Luce JA, Brody RV, Bird C, Luce JM. Physician responses to a hospital policy allowing them to not offer cardiopulmonary resuscitation. J Am Geriatr Soc 1996; 44: 1215-9
- 189. Taffer GE, Teasdale TA, Luchi RJ. In-hospital cardiopulmonary resuscitation. JAMA 1988; 260: 2069-72
- 190. Taylor EM, Parker S, Ramsay MP, Peart NS. The introduction and auditing of a formal do not resuscitate policy. N Z Med J 1996; 109: 424-8
- 191. Taylor EM, Parker S, Ramsay MP. Patients' receipt and understanding of written information about a resuscitation policy. Bioethics 1998; 12: 64-76
- 192. Teno JM, Branco KJ, Mor V, Phillips CD, Hawes C, Morris J, Fries BE. Changes in advance care planning in nursing homes before and after the patient Self-Determination Act: report of a 10-state survey. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; 45: 939-44
- 193. The Appleton International Conference: Developing guidelines for decisions to forgo life-prolonging medical treatment. J Med Ethics 1992; 18: Supplement
- 194. Thompson BL, Lawson D, Croughan-Minihane M, Cooke M. Do patients' ethnic and social factors influence the use of do-not-resuscitate orders? Ethn Dis 1999; 9: 132-9
- 195. Tilden VP, Tolle SW, Garland MJ, Nelson CA. Decisions about life-sustaining treatment. Impact of physicians' behaviours on the family. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 633-8
- 196. Tobias JS, Souhami RL. Fully informed consent can be needlessly cruel. BMJ 1993; 307: 199-201

- 197. Tolle SW, Tilden VP, Nelson CA, Dunn PM. A prospective study of the efficacy of the physician order form for life-sustaining treatment. J Am Geriatr Soc 1998; 46: 1097-102
- 198. Tolle SW, Rosenfeld AG, Tilden VP, Park Y. Oregon's low in-hospital death rates: what determines where people die and satisfaction with decisions on place of death? Ann Intern Med 1999; 130: 681-5
- 199. Travis TA, Noyes R, Brightwell DR. The attitudes of physicians toward prolonging life. Int'l J of Psychiatry in Medicine 1974; 5: 17-26
- Tulsky JA, Chesney MA, Lo B. How do medical residents discuss resuscitation with patients? J Gen Intern Med 1995; 10: 436-42
- 201. Thomsen OØ, Wulff HR, Martin A, Singer P. What do gastroenterologists in Europe tell cancer patients? Lancet 1993; 341: 473-6
- 202. Tulsky JA, Chesney MA, Lo B. See one, do one, teach one? House staff experience discussing do-not-resuscitate orders. Arch Intern Med 1996; 156: 1285-9
- 203. Tunstall-Pedoe H, Bailey L, Chamberlain DA, Marsden AK, Ward ME, Zideman DA. Survey of 3765 cardiopulmonary resuscitations in British hospitals (the BRESUS study): methods and overall results. BMJ 1992; 304: 1347-51
- 204. Uhlmann RF, Pearlman RA, Cain KC. Understanding of elderly patients' resuscitation preferences by physicians and nurses. West J Med 1989; 150: 705-7
- 205. van Delden JJ, van der Maas PJ, Pijnenborg L, Looman CWN. Deciding not to resuscitate in Dutch hospitals. J Med Ethics 1993: 19: 200-5
- 206. Vincent JL. Forgoing life support in western European intensive care units: the results of an ethical questionnaire. Crit Care Med 1999; 27: 1626-33
- 207. Virmani J, Schneiderman LJ, Kaplan RM. Relationship of advance directives to physician-patient communication. Arch Intern Med 1994; 154: 909-13
- 208. Wachter RM, Luce JM, Hearst N, Lo B. Decisions about resuscitation: Inequalities among patients with different diseases but similar prognosis. Ann Intern Med 1989; 111: 525-32
- 209. Wardrobe J, Morris F. European guidelines on resuscitation. BMJ 1993; 306: 1555-6
- 210. Wedberg A. Some problems in the logical analysis of legal science. Theoria 1951;18: 246-75
- 211. Wenger NS, Pearson ML, Desmond KA, Brook RH, Kahn KL. Outcomes of patients with do-not-resuscitate orders. Towards an understanding of what do-not-resuscitate orders mean and how they affect patients. Arch Intern Med 1995; 155: 2063-8
- Wenger NS, Pearson ML, Desmond KA, Kahn KL. Changes over time in the use of do not resuscitate orders and the outcomes of patients receiving them. Med Care 1997; 35: 311-9
- 213. Wenger NS, Phillips RS, Teno JM, Oye RK, Dawson NV, Liu H, Califf R, Layde P, Hakim R, Lynn J. Physician understanding of patient resuscitation preferences: insights and clinical implications. J Am Geriatr Soc 2000; 48: S44-51
- 214. Weston CF, Wilson RJ, Jones SD. Predicting survival from out-of-hospital cardiac arrest: a multivariate analysis. Resuscitation 1997; 34: 27-34

- 215. Williams R. The 'do not resuscitate' decision: guidelines for policy in the adult. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1993; 27: 139-40
- 216. Wood GG, Martin E. Withholding and withdrawing life-sustaining therapy in a Canadian intensive care unit. Can J Anaesth 1995; 42: 186-91
- 217. Wulff HR, Pedersen SA, Rosenberg R. Medical Philosophy (in Danish). Københamn. Denmark: Munksgaard, 1990
- 218. Youngner SJ. Do-not-resuscitate orders: No longer secret, but still a problem. Hastings Center Report 1987; 17: 24-33
- 219. Ågård A, Hermerén G, Herlitz J. Should CPR be performed on patients with heart failure: the role of the patient in the decision-making process. J Intern Med 2000; 248: 279-86
- 220. A case of mercy killing (in Swedish). Läkartidningen 1964; 61: 3619-21